# Follicular responsiveness to equine chorionic gonadotropin in cat species: study in *in vitro* culture



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Theriogenology Department of Obstetrics Gynaecology and Reproduction Faculty of Veterinary Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University การตอบสนองของฟอลลิเคิลต่อฮอร์โมนอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินในสัตว์ตระกูลแมวโดย การศึกษาจากการเลี้ยงฟอลลิเคิลภายนอกร่างกาย



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิทยาการสืบพันธุ์สัตว์ ภาควิชาสูติศาสตร์-เธนุเวชวิทยาและวิทยาการสืบพันธุ์ คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	Follicular responsiveness to equine chorionic
	gonadotropin in cat species: study in <i>in vitro</i> culture
Ву	Miss Ajjima Chansaenroj
Field of Study	Theriogenology
Thesis Advisor	Professor KAYWALEE CHATDARONG, D.V.M., Ph.D.
Thesis Co Advisor	Dr. Nucharin Songsasen, D.V.M., Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

		>
		Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary
		Science
(1	Professor ROONGROJE THANAWO	NGNUWECH, D.V.M.,
F	Ph.D.)	
DISSERTATION CO	OMMITTEE	
	A COLORADA	Chairman
(1	Professor PADET TUMMARUK, D.V	′.M., Ph.D.)
		Thesis Advisor
(1	Professor KAYWALEE CHATDARON	IG, D.V.M., Ph.D.)
	GHULALONGKORN UNIV	Thesis Co-Advisor
(1	Dr. Nucharin Songsasen, D.V.M., P	h.D.)
		Examiner
(,	Assistant Professor SUPPAWIWAT	PONGLOWHAPAN,
C	D.V.M., M.Sc., Ph.D.)	
		Examiner
(,	Assistant Professor THEERAWAT T	HARASANIT, D.V.M.,
F	Ph.D)	
		External Examiner
(	Dr. Ruttachuk Rungsiwiwat, D.V.M	., Ph.D.)

อัจจิมา จันท์แสนโรจน์ : การตอบสนองของฟอลลิเคิลต่อฮอร์โมนอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินในสัตว์ตระกูลแมวโดยการศึกษาจากการ เสี้ยงฟอลลิเคิลภายนอกร่างกาย. (Follicular responsiveness to equine chorionic gonadotropin in cat species: study in *in vitro* culture) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก: ศ. สพ.ญ. ดร.เกวลี ฉัตรดรงค์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม: ดร.นุชรินทร์ ศงสะเสน

อีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินได้ถูกใช้ในการเหนี่ยวนำการเป็นสัดในสัตว์ป่าตระกูลแมวหลากหลายสปีซีส์ อย่างไรก็ตามกลไกของโกนาโด โทรปินที่ควบคุมกระบวนการสร้างฟอลลิเคิลในแมวนี้ยังคงไม่ชัดเจน ในการทดลองนี้ ทำการประเมิน 1) การตอบสนองของฟอลลิเคิลในรังไข่แมวที่ระยะการ พัฒนาของฟอลลิเคิลที่ต่างกันต่ออีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินด้วยการเลี้ยงฟอลลิเคิลภายนอกร่างกาย 2) การตอบสนองของฟอลลิเคิลเสือในระยะแอนทรัล ต่ออีใควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปิน 3) อิทธิพลของอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินร่วมกับอินซูลินไลค์โกรทแฟคเตอร์, สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ และการรวมกัน ของอินซูลินไลค์โกรทแฟคเตอร์และสเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ต่อฟอลลิเคิลในรังไข่แมวที่ระยะการพัฒนาของฟอลลิเคิลที่ต่างกัน

การทดลองที่ 1 ฟอลลิเคิลแยกเดี่ยวจากรังไขของแมว 22 ตัว แบ่งเป็น 3 ระยะการพัฒนา ตามลักษณะภายนอกและเส้นผ่านศูนย์กลางของฟอล ลิเคิล: 1) ฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีสองชั้น ขนาด100-150 ไมโครเมตร (จำนวน 139 ฟอลลิเคิล) 2) ฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้น, 150-300 ไมโครเมตร (จำนวน 154 ฟอลลิเคิล) และ 3) แอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้น ≥ 300-500 ไมโครเมตร (จำนวน 123 ฟอลลิเคิล) จากนั้นฟอลลิเคิลจะถูกห่อหุ้มใน 0.5 เปอร เซ็นต์ (น้ำหนัก/ปริมาตร) โซเดียมอัลจิเนต และเลี้ยงเป็นเวลา 12 วันในน้ำยาเลี้ยงซึ่งเสริมตัวย 0, 0.05, 0.1, 0.5 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร อีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปิน หลังจากทำการเลี้ยงไปแล้ว 12 วัน การเติบโตของฟอลลิเคิลและการแสดงออกของยีนของฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีสองขั้นไม่ได้รับอิทธิพลโดยอีไควน์คอริโอนิค โกนาโดโทรปินที่ทุกความเข้มขัน (P > 0.05) อย่างไรก็ตามความเข้มขันของอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินที่ 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร กระตุ้นการเติบโตของฟอลลิ เดิลและการแสดงออกของยีนในฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นและแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้น (P < 0.05) ความคล้ายคลึงกันที่พบคือเส้นผ่าน ศูนย์กลางของโอโอโซต์ในฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นและแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้น (P < 0.05) ความคล้ายคลึงกันที่พบคือเส้นผ่าน สามการแสดงออกของยีนในฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นและแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้นที่ไส่ 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร นั้นไม่มีการเงิย่ยนแปลง เมื่อพิจารณ จากการแสดงออกของยีน ระดับของ *STAR* เพิ่มขึ้นในแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้น (P < 0.05) และ มีแนวโน้มเพิ่มขึ้นในฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้น (P = 0.08) ที่เลี้ยงใน 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลตร อีไควน์คอริเอนิคโกนาโดโทรปิน ในขณฑีไม่มีผลต่อการแสดงออกของยีนอื่นๆ ดังนั้นการตองขององปลอลิเคิล แมวต่ออีใควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินพบได้ตั้งแต่ฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นเป็น และอีใควน์คอริเอนิคโลนๆ ดังน้นกรดองฟอลลิเคิล แมวต่ออีโควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินพบได้ตั้มต่ลองไมลละยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นเป็นต้นไป และอีโควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินที่ 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตรน้ เหมาะสาสำหรับการเลี้ยงปลลิเคิลโคลเลเล และเสองอริเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นเป็นต้นไป และอีโควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินที่ 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตรน้ เหมาที่มีหน้าหนัว 1.5 โทรโนษาปลอโลโคลโลดโลโลลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นเป็นข้นป็นอนโควน์คอริโอนิควน์คอร

การทดลองที่ 2 ความเข้มข้นของอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินที่เหมาะสมจากการทดลองที่ 1 ถูกเลือกมาเพื่อตรวจสอบการตอบสนองของ ฟอลลิเคิลเสือต่ออีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปิน เนื้อเยื่อรังไข่ที่ได้จากการแข่แข็งและทำละลาย 6 ขั้นที่ได้มาภายหลังการตายของเสือหนึ่งตัวถูกนำมาประเมิน ฟอลลิเคิลแอกเดี่ยว 12 ฟอลลิเคิล ถูกแบ่งอย่างสุ่มเป็น 2 สภาวะการเลี้ยง (กลุ่มควบคุมและ 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร อีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปิน) และเลี้ยง ในอัลจิเนต ไฮโดรเจล 3 วัน เส้นผ่านศูนย์กลางของฟอลลิเคิลในกลุ่มควบคุมลดสงอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ (P < 0.05) หลังจากเลี้ยงไป 3 วัน ในขณะที่เส้นผ่าน ศูนย์กลางของฟอลลิเคิลในกลุ่มที่เสริมอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินยังคงมีขนาดเหมือนตอนเริ่มต้น (P > 0.05) การรอดชีวิตของฟอลลิเคิลคือ 100% ในทั้ง สองกลุ่ม อย่างไรก็ตามโอโอไซต์ที่เก็บได้ในระหว่างกลุ่มควบคุมและกลุ่มเสริมอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินนั้นแตกต่างกันอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ (33%, จำนวน 6 ฟอลลิเคิล และ 67%, จำนวน 6 ฟอลลิเคิล ตามลำดับ) (P < 0.05) สถานะของนิวเคลียสในโอโอไซต์ที่ได้มาทั้งหมดยังคอยู่ในระยะเจอร์มินอลเวสสิเคิล การ ทดลองนี้แสดงให้เห็นว่าแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลที่ได้จากเนื้อเชื่อที่แช่แข็งและทำละลายของเสือไม่สามารถรักษาลักษณะภายนอกและการทำงานของฟอลลิเคิลได้ หากขาดการเสริมอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินในน้ำยาเลี้ยง เราสรุปว่าอีโควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินมีบทบาทสำคัญกับการเติบโตของแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิล และการรอดชีวิตของโอโอไอไซต์

การทดลองที่ 3 อิทธิพลของการเสริมโกรทแฟคเตอร์ (อินซูลินไลค์โกรทแฟคเตอร์, สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์และการรวมกันของแฟคเตอร์ทั้งสอง) ต่อฟอลลิเคิลในรังไข่แมวที่ระยะการพัฒนาของฟอลลิเคิลที่ต่างกันได้ถูกตรวจสอบ ฟอลลิเคิลได้รับจากแมว 12 ตัว ถูกห่อหุ้มในไฟบรินอัลจิเนต และเลี้ยงเป็น เวลา 18 วัน ในน้ำยาเลี้ยงซึ่งมี 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร อีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโคโทรปิน ที่ไม่มีการเสริมโกรทแฟคเตอร์ (กลุ่มควบคุม) หรือ เสริมด้วย 1 นาโนกรัม/ มิลลิลิตร อินซูลินไลค์โกรทแฟคเตอร์ (IGF-I), 50 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (SCF50), 100 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (SCF100), 1 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร อินซูลินไลค์โกรทแฟคเตอร์ กับ 50 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF50) หรือ 1 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร อินซูลินไลค์โก รทแฟคเตอร์ กับ 100 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF100) การเสริมโกรทแฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF50) หรือ 1 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร อินซูลินไลค์โก รทแฟคเตอร์ กับ 100 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF100) การเสริมโกรทแฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF50) หรือ 1 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร อินซูลินไลค์โก รทแฟคเตอร์ กับ 100 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF100) การเสริมโกรทแฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF50) หรือ 1 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร อินซูลินไลค์โก รทแฟคเตอร์ กับ 100 นาโนกรัม/มิลลิลิตร สเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ (IGF-SCF100) การเสริมโกรทแฟคเตอร์ แปลเลคิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้นและอดรีเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้น ในขณะที่ SCF100 ส่งเสริมการเติบโตของแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีสองชั้นนั้นอินซูลินไลค์โกรทแฟคเตอร์ไม่ สามารถรักษาขนาดของโอโอไซต์แตกต่างกันไปตามระยะการพัฒนาของฟอลลิเคิล ในฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีสลายชั้นนั้นจิกษาขาดของโอโอไฮต์ได้เนทก กลุ่มที่ใสโกรทแฟคเตอร์จนกระทั่งจบกรทดลอง อย่างไรก็ตามการมีหรือไม่มีการมีหรือไลโลลเละยีนที่ควบคุมการเติบโตของฟอลลิเคิลและโอโอไอไซต์และการสร้างสเตียรอยด์ฮอริโมนในฟอลลิเคิล ระยที่สองที่มีหลายชั้น ในนอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลและยีนที่ควบคุมการเติบโตของฟอลลิเคิลและโอโอไซต์และการสร้างสเตียรอเของของยอน *FSHR, GDF9* แล ยนที่เกี่ยวกับการสร้างสเตียออต์ออร์โมน ดังนั้นเตล์แฟลเตอร์มีอิทธิพลต่อทุกระยะกรพัฒนาของฟอลลิเคิลในแนวว

โดยสรุป การตอบสนองของฟอลลิเคิลแมวต่ออีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินพบได้ตั้งแต่ฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นเป็นต้นไป และการ เสริมอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปินที่ 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร เหมาะสมต่อการเลี้ยงฟอลลิเคิลภายนอกร่างกายในแมวบ้าน การเพิ่มสเต็มเซลล์แฟคเตอร์ลงใน น้ำยาเลี้ยงช่วยส่งเสริมกระบวนการสร้างฟอลลิเคิลในแมวตั้งแต่ฟอลลิเคิลระยะที่สองที่มีหลายชั้นถึงแอนทรัลฟอลลิเคิลระยะเริ่มต้น ยิ่งไปกว่านั้นฟอลลิเคิลเสือ ก็ตอบสนองต่อการเสริมอีไควน์คอริโอนิคโกนาโดโทรปิน 0.05 ไอยู/มิลลิลิตร เช่นเดียวกับที่พบในแมวบ้าน

สาขาวิชา	วิทยาการสืบพันธุ์สัตว์	ลายมือชื่อนี้สิต
ปีการศึกษา	2561	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

#### # # 5775514731: MAJOR THERIOGENOLOGY

KEYWORD: Follicle, Gonadotropin, Growth factor, Response, Tiger

Ajjima Chansaenroj: Follicular responsiveness to equine chorionic gonadotropin in cat species: study in *in vitro* culture. Advisor: Prof. KAYWALEE CHATDARONG, D.V.M., Ph.D. Co-advisor: Dr. Nucharin Songsasen, D.V.M., Ph.D.

Equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG) has been commonly used to induce estrus in several felid species. However, the mechanisms by which this gonadotropin regulates cat folliculogenesis are still unclear. In this present study, we investigated 1) the in vitro responsiveness of cat ovarian follicles at different follicle developmental stages to various eCG concentration; 2) tiger antral follicle responsiveness to eCG; 3) the influence of eCG combination with insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) and/or stem cell factor (SCF) on cat ovarian follicles at different developmental stages.

Study 1, the isolated follicles from the ovaries of 22 cats were classified into three developmental stages based on their morphology and diameter: 1) two-layered secondary follicle (SF), 100-150  $\mu$ m (n = 139); 2) multi-layered SF, 150-300  $\mu$ m (n = 154); and 3) early antral follicle (AF),  $\geq$  300-500  $\mu$ m (n = 123). The follicles were then encapsulated in 0.5 % (w/v) sodium alginate and cultured for 12 days in culture medium supplemented with 0, 0.05, 0.1 or 0.5 IU/mL eCG. After being cultured for 12 days, follicle growth and gene expression of two-layered SF were not influenced by eCG at all concentrations (P > 0.05). However, the concentration of eCG at 0.05 IU/mL stimulated follicular growth and gene expressions in the multi-layered SF and early AF (P < 0.05). Correspondingly, the diameter of oocytes in the multi-layered SF and early AF treated with 0.05 IU/mL eCG was unchanged. Considering the gene expression, the level of *STAR* was enhanced in the early AF (P < 0.05) and tended to increase in the multi-layered SF (P = 0.08) cultured in 0.05 IU/mL eCG, whereas the expression of other genes was not affected. Therefore, the responsiveness of cat follicles to eCG is apparent from the multi-layered SF stage onward and the eCG supplementation at 0.05 IU/mL appeared to be optimal for the follicle culture in the domestic cat.

Study 2, the optimal concentration of eCG supplementation from the experiment 1 was selected to investigate the responsiveness of the tiger follicle to eCG. Six frozen-thawed ovarian tissue from a tiger obtained post-mortem were evaluated. Twelve isolated antral follicles recovered were randomly allocated into two culture conditions (control and 0.05 IU/mL eCG supplementation) and cultured in an alginate hydrogel for 3 days. The follicle diameters in the control group significant decreased (P < 0.05) after 3 days of culture, while the size of those in eCG supplementation group were remained constant (P > 0.05). Follicle survival was 100% in both groups. However, the oocyte retrieval rate was significant different between the two treatments (control, 33%, n = 6; eCG, 67%, n = 6) (P < 0.05). The nuclear status of all recovered oocytes was remained in germinal vesicle phase. The present study showed that the tiger frozen-thawed antral follicles could not maintain their morphology and function without eCG supplementation in the culture medium. We concluded that eCG plays an important role on tiger antral follicle growth and the survival of the oocyte.

Study 3, the influence of growth factor supplementations (IGF-I, SCF and the combination of these two factors) on cat ovarian follicles at different follicle developmental stages were examined. The follicles obtained from twelve cats, encapsulated in a fibrin-alginate hydrogel and cultured for 18 days in the culture medium contained 0.05 IU/mL eCG without growth factor supplementation (control group) or supplemented with 1 ng/mL IGF-I (IGF-I), 50 ng/mL SCF (SCF50), 100 ng/mL SCF (SCF100), 1 ng/mL IGF-I + 50 ng/mL SCF (IGF-SCF50) or 1 ng/mL IGF-I + 100 ng/mL SCF (IGF-SCF100). The growth factors supplementations had no effect to two-layered SF and multi-layered SF growth, whereas SCF100 supported the growth of early AF throughout the culture period (P<0.05). However, the oocyte growth was varied among developmental stages. In the two-layered SF, IGF-I failed to maintain oocyte size after culture for 12 days. Oocytes of multi-layered SF were sustained in their initial size until the end of the study in all growth factor treated follicles. However, the present or absence of growth factor showed no effect to the oocyte of early AF. SCF50 stimulated antral cavity formation and gene regulating follicle and oocyte growth and steroidogenesis in multi-layered SF. While IGF-SCF50 was the best supplementation to early AF because it increased *FSHR, GDF9* and steroidogenic genes. Therefore, SCF influenced all stages of follicle development in cat.

In conclusions, the responsiveness of cat follicles to eCG was apparent from the multi-layered SF stage onward and the eCG supplementation at 0.05 IU/mL appeared to be optimal for the in vitro follicle culture in the domestic cats. The addition of SCF to culture medium supported cat folliculogenesis from multi-layered SF to early AF stage. Furthermore, similar to the domestic cat, tiger follicles also respond to 0.05 IU/mL eCG supplementation.

Field of Study: Academic Year: Theriogenology 2018 Student's Signature ..... Advisor's Signature ..... Co-advisor's Signature .....

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisors, Prof. Dr. Kaywalee Chatdarong and Dr. Nucharin Songsasen, for the continuous support of my Ph.D. study and related research, for their patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. Their valuable guidance is greatly appreciated and enable me to complete my research and thesis writing. I could not have imagined how my research is going if I don't have them. Specially, Dr. Nucharin Songsasen who always take care of me and teach me to do everything during my stay in U.S.A. In particular, she enlightened me on how I can inspire my self-confidence.

Secondly, I would like to thank the Royal Golden Jubilee (RGJ) Ph.D. program (PHD/0112/2557) and the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund, GCUGR1125593053D).

Besides my advisors and scholarships, I would like to thank Dr. Budhan Pukazhenthi, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sudson Sirivaidyapong, Asst. Prof. Dr. Theerawat Tharasanit, Asst. Prof. Dr. Sariya Asawakarn, Dr. Theerawat Sawangchan-Uthai, Dr. Sirirak Buapeung, Asst. Prof. Dr. Paweena Thuwanut, Asst. Prof. Dr. Panida Chanapiwat, , Dr. Saritvich Panyaboriban, Dr. Jennifer Nakashima, Dr. Chommanart Thongkittidilok, Dr. Sarawanee Khunmanee, Dr. Praopiras Phakdeedindan, Ms. Nathamon Yimpring, Dr. Sirinun Pisamai, Dr. Teerawut Nedumpun, Dr. Piyathip Setthawong, Dr. Apichaya Sudsukh and Dr. Prattana Tanyapanyachon for their suggestion, insightful comments, laboratory training and encouragement.

My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Dr. Sanipa Suradhat, Assoc.Prof. Dr. Wichai Tantasuparuk, Asst. Prof. Dr. Kongkiat Srisuwatanasagul, Asst. Prof. Dr. Sayamon Srisuwatthanasakul, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sukanya maneein, Asst. Prof. Dr. Chalika Wangdee, Asst. Prof. Dr. Sasithorn Panasophonkul, Dr. Wanlaya Tipkantha, Dr. Em-on Olanratmanee, Dr. Duangkamol Phoophitphong, Dr. Nae Tanpradit, Dr. Narong Tipthanavattana, Dr. Pintira Thiangthientham, Dr. Nicole Sirisopit Mehl, Dr. Pachara Pearodwong, Dr. Cholayuth Bhanmeechao, Dr. Saengtawan Arayatham, Dr. Dissaya Srinutiyakorn, Ms. Junpen Suwimonteerabutr and Mrs. Arunee Tantasuparuk for their mental support.

I would like to thank the private hospitals in Front Royal, Stephens City, and Harrisonburg, Virginia, U.S.A. for all samples, Dr. Sirichai Techarungchaikul, Dr.Thitida Pakdeesaneha, Dr. Thitiporn Thongsima and Mrs. Prapai Inthaphihong, who provided me an opportunity to collect sample from the small animal hospital, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University.

I thank Meadhbh Molloy, Angela Razza, Adam Almeida, Carly Ellingsen, Victoria Kennedy, Morgan Maly, Megan Brown, Katie Edwards, Michael Byron, Benjamin Davidson, Carla Bernal, Jen Zhao, Jacob Kraus, Pakkanut Bansiddhi Jessica Kordell and Sarah Putman for their fabulous friendship during my stay at Smithsonian Conservation Biology Institute.

I would like to express thank to my best friends Dr. Pornpansa Jumnongpipat, Dr. Unchana Suksiri, Mrs. Tanisa Pisantanakul, Dr. Sakkacah Phakdeechanuan, Dr. Hathaichanok Arunchaichana and Dr. Juthakarn Kajornsilp who always beside me when I'm having a hard time in my life.

I appreciated to have quality time with Dr. Pachara Pearodwong, Dr. Apichaya Sudsukh and Dr. Prattana Tanyapanyachon in Graduate student Room and for all the fun we have had in the last two years.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family: my parents (especially my R'gong and R'ma (grandparents)) and to my brothers and sisters for supporting me spiritually throughout five years of doing this thesis, financial support and my life in general. Without they precious support it would not be possible to conduct this research.

Ajjima Chansaenroj

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	age
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iii
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
ABBREVIATIONS	1
Chapter I Introduction	5
1.1 Importance and rational	5
1.2 Literature reviews	9
1.2.1 Reproductive biology in the domestic cat	9
1.2.2 Folliculogenesis in the domestic cats	. 12
1.2.3 Estrous induction and manipulation in domestic cats and wild felids	.16
1.2.4 Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ARTs) in the cats	. 22
1.2.5 Factors influence folliculogenesis	. 28
1.3 Thesis Objective	. 31
1.4 Hypothesis	. 31
1.5 Keyword	. 31
1.6 Research merits	. 31
Chapter II Equine chorionic gonadotropin induces in vitro follicular growth from the	Ð
multi-layered secondary developmental stage in cats	. 33

2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Materials and Methods	
2.3.1 Chemicals	
2.3.2 Sample collection	
2.3.3 Follicles isolation, encapsulation and culture	
2.3.4 Assessment of follicle and oocyte growth	
2.3.5 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)	
2.3.6 Statistical analysis	
2.3.7 Experimental design	
2.4 Results	
2.5 Discussion	
Chapter III Restoration of tiger ( <i>Panthera tigris</i> ) follicles from frozen-t	hawed ovarian
tissues	53
3.1 Abstract	53
3.2 Introduction วินาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	
3.3 Materials and MethodsGKORN UNIVERSITY	
3.3.1 Chemicals	
3.3.2 Samples	
3.3.3 Ovarian tissue thawing	
3.3.4 Follicle isolation, encapsulation and culture	
3.3.5 Assessment of follicle growth	
3.3.6 Follicle survival and oocyte nuclear configuration	

3.4 Results	. 57
3.5 Discussion	. 60
Chapter IV Requirements of insulin-like growth factor-I and stem cell factor for cat	
follicles cultured in a fibrin-alginate three-dimensional system	. 63
4.1 Abstract	. 63
4.2 Introduction	. 64
4.3 Materials and Methods	. 67
4.3.1 Chemicals	. 67
4.3.2 Source of ovaries	. 67
4.3.3 Collection and <i>in vitro</i> culture of isolated follicles	. 67
4.3.4 Follicle and oocyte assessment	. 68
4.3.5 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)	. 69
4.3.6 Statistical analysis	. 70
4.4 Results	. 71
4.4.1 Follicle and oocyte growth	. 71
4.4.2 Antral formation	. 71
4.4.3 Survival rate	. 80
4.4.4 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)	. 80
4.5 Discussion	. 83
Chapter V General discussion and conclusion	. 89
REFERENCES	. 93
VITA1	134

## LIST OF TABLES

Page
Table 1. Pregnancy rate from artificial insemination by using fresh semen in felids 8
Table 2. Classification of follicles in the ovary14
Table 3. Comparison of gonadotropins dosages in different felids species
Table 4. The summary of artificial insemination guideline in domestic cat
Table 5. Classification of COCs
Table 6. Primers sequence for qPCR
Table 7. Mean ( $\pm$ SEM) diameters of follicles and oocytes of various developmental
stages on Days 0 and 12 of culture in the medium containing different concentrations
of eCG
Table 8. Mean $\pm$ SEM of follicle diameter on Day 0 and 3 of culture and the
percentage of oocyte recovery at the end of culture
E CONTRACTOR E

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

## LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1. Relative growth of the follicles (compared to day 0). A) Relative growth of
two- layered secondary follicles, B) multi-layered secondary follicles, and C) early
antral follicles
Figure 2. Fold differences in gene expression of the follicles. A) Fold change in
expression of two-layered secondary follicles, B) multi-layered secondary follicles,
and C) early antral follicles
Figure 3. The germinal vesicle stage oocyte stained with Hoechst 33258 at the end of
culture
Figure 4. Relative growth of the follicles (compare to day 0) after 3, 6, 9, 12, 15 and
18 d of culture. A) Two-layered SF, B) Multi-layered SF and C) Early AF
Figure 5. Relative growth of the oocytes (compare to day 0) after 3, 6, 9, 12, 15 and
18 d of culture. A) Two-layered SF stage, B) Multi-layered SF stage and C) Early AF
stage
Figure 6. The percentage of multi-layered SF antral formation classify by treatment.79
Figure 7. Gene expressions of A) Multi-layered SF and B) Early AF
Figure 8. Proposed schematic diagram of IGF-I and SCF supplementation guideline for
the multi-step of follicles culture the in cat

## ABBREVIATIONS

AF	Antral follicle
AI	Artificial insemination
AKT	Serine/threonine-specific protein kinase
ARTs:	Assisted reproductive technologies
BMP 15	Bone morphogenetic protein 15
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	Calcium chloride
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate
cAMP/PKA	Cyclic adenosine 3′,5′-monophosphate/ Protein kinase A
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophpsphate
c-kit	Stem cell factor receptor VERSITY
COCs	Cumulus oocyte complexes
CPAs	Cryoprotective agents
Ct	Cycle threshold
CYP17A1	Cytochrome P450 steroid 17 $lpha$ -hydroxylase/17,20 lyase
CYP19A1	Cytochrome P450 aromatase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid

eCG	equine chorionic gonadotropin
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ET	Embryo transfer
FCS	Fetal calve serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone
FSHR	Follicle stimulating hormone receptor
GDF-9	Growth differentiation factor-9
GnRH	Gonadotropin releasing hormone
hCG	Human chorionic gonadotropin
ICSI	Intracytoplasmic sperm injection
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor-I
IGFR-I	Insulin-like growth factor receptor-I
IVF	In vitro fertilization
LH	Luteinizing hormone
LHCGR	Luteinizing hormone/chorionic gonadotropin receptor
M199	Medium 199 with Earle's salt
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEM	Minimum essential medium

mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NPPC	Natriuretic peptide precursor type C
NPR2	Natriuretic peptide precursor type C receptor
OSFs	Oocyte secreted factors
PDE3A	Phosphodiesterase 3A
PF	Primary follicle
pFSH	Porcine follicle stimulating hormone
PI3K/AKT	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/serine/threonine-specific protein
	kinase
pLH	Porcine luteinizing hormone
POF	Preovulatory follicle
PrF C	Primordial follicle
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
rhFSH	Recombinant human follicle stimulating hormone
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SCF	Stem cell factor
SCF/c-kit	Stem cell factor/stem cell factor receptor
SDHA	Succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A

SEM	Standard error of mean
SF	Secondary follicle
STAR	Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein
ΔΔCt	Delta delta Ct



#### Chapter I

#### Introduction

#### 1.1 Importance and rational

During the past few decades, many wild felids have gradually decreased in numbers, and many of which are being classified as threatened, valuable, endangered or critically endangered largely due to extensive deforestation, habitat loss and illegal hunting. Of 38 wild felids worldwide nine species have been found in Thailand: tiger (*Panthera tigris*), leopard (*Panthera pardus*), clouded leopard (*Neofelis nebulosa*), Asian leopard cat (*Prionailurus bengalensis*), fishing cat (*Prionailurus viverrinus*), flatheaded cat (*Prionailurus planiceps*), Asian golden cat (*Catopuma temminckii*), jungle cat (*Felis chaus*) and marbled cat (*Pardofelis marmorata*) (Srisamoot et al., 2007). According to the International Union for Conservation of Nature, five of the nine species are at risk of losing their genetic diversity (The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2018-1. <www.iucnredlist.org>. Download on 06 August 2018).

Assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) such as artificial insemination (AI), *in vitro* fertilization (IVF), embryo transfer (ET) and gamete cryopreservation have been used to support perpetuation of genetically valuable endangered felids. Assisted breeding is a valuable tool for conservation of wild cat species, especially for developing successful *ex situ* breeding programs.

Induction of estrus cycles in felids can be performed by using equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG), follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH), GnRH analogues and opioid antagonists with varying results (Kutzler, 2007).

Porcine FSH (pFSH) has amino acids homology with tiger FSH and purified porcine FSH has a minimal LH activity (Crichton et al., 2003). Therefore, pFSH seemed to induce follicular growth in felids. However, FSH has a short half-life and need to be injected twice daily for 3-6 consecutive days which may cause stress associated with animal restraint. Apart from the above, because of its long half-life (120 h); eCG has been a hormone of choice to induce folliculogenesis in a single injection. Because of this advantage, eCG is widely used for ovarian stimulation in many felids including the domestic cat (Swanson et al., 1995; Roth et al., 1997b), cheetah (Howard et al., 1997), clouded leopard (Howard et al., 1997), tiger (Donoghue et al., 1990; Donoghue et al., 1996; Graham et al., 2006), puma (Moore et al., 1981; Miller et al., 1990), ocelot (Swanson et al., 1996), tigrina (Swanson and Brown, 2004) and snow leopard (Roth et al., 1997a). However, the disadvantage of eCG in felids is the production of antigonadotropin antibodies resulting in decreased ovarian responsiveness when the hormone is administered repeatedly in the same animal within 6 months (Swanson et al., 1995). The responsiveness of the ovary to exogenous gonadotropin has been shown to be species specific with the optimal eCG dosage not being associated with body weight (Howard et al., 1997). Moreover, the results of estrous induction are uncertain.

Several animals did not respond to the hormonal induction with unexplained causes (Pelican et al., 2006b). Furthermore, gonadotropin hyper-stimulation may be detrimental to animal health, reproductive organ or the quality of the follicles and oocytes that can subsequently cause the improper breeding and infertility problems (Goodrowe and Wildt, 1987).

Various protocols using eCG in combination with human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) to induce estrus and ovulation prior to AI have been developed in the domestic cats (*Felis catus*) since the domestic cat is logically considered a suitable model for endangered felids. However, the modified AI protocols from the domestic cat provide uncertain outcomes in different felids. The AI success rate in the felids is low (Table 1) which may be due to the variation in ovarian responsiveness to exogenous gonadotropin treatment among different felid species.

## จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	Gonadotro	oin dosage	Time of ovulation		
Species	eCG (IU)	hcg (IU)	after hCG (h)	Pregnancy rate (%)	References
Tigrina (Leopardus tigrinus)	200	150	30-36	25	Swanson and Brown, 2004
Ocelot ( <i>Leopardus pardalis</i> )	400	200	30-36	25	Moraes et al., 1997
Ocelot (Leopardus pardalis)	500	225	30-36	25	Swanson et al., 1996
Clouded leopard (Neofelis Nebulosa)	100	75	37-40	2	Howard et al., 1996
Snow leopard ( <i>Panthera uncia</i> )	600	300	40	6.7	Roth et al., 1997
Cheetah ( <i>Acinonyx jubatus</i> )	200	100	40-42	46.2	Howard et al., 1997
Puma (Puma concolor)	200	100	33-40	12.5	Barone et al., 1994
Tiger (Panthera tigris)	1000	750	39-46	10	Donoghue et al., 1996

Table 1. Pregnancy rate from artificial insemination by using fresh semen in felids.

∞

The endangered felids in the wild and captivity are rare. Therefore, hormonal responsiveness tested in wild animals is limited. Recently, *in vitro* culture technology become more feasible using ovarian tissue. The overall aim of this thesis is to find the efficacy of estrous induction using eCG in terms of follicular growth and mRNA expressions in isolated follicles of the domestic cat. The intense growth and gene expressions are considered the indicators for eCG responsiveness. Moreover, growth factors that may enhance the effect of eCG on follicular growth were also assessed. The knowledge obtained in this study will be valuable to understand the follicle responsiveness to eCG in other wild felids species to improve ARTs.

#### 1.2 Literature reviews

1.2.1 Reproductive biology in the domestic cat

The female cat is classified as seasonally polyestrous (Shille et al., 1979). Unlike other domesticated species, the cat is categorized as induced ovulation animal, although in some cases females ovulate spontaneously (Feldman and Nelson, 1996). The onset of puberty in female cats occurs at 4–12 months of age (Bristol-Gould and Woodruff, 2006). The exact time of entering to the puberty is depending on photoperiod (Hurni, 1981; Leyva et al., 1989; Michel, 1993), breed and body weight (Johnston et al., 2001) of the cat. The estrous cycle in the cat consists of five phases (proestrus, estrus, interestrus, diestrus and anestrus) (Feldman and Nelson, 1996). The proestrus phase consists of follicular growth and the synthesis of estrogen, often twice as high as the level observed during anestrus or interestrus (Shille et al., 1979). During the proestrus, cats start showing signs of estrus behavior such as rubbing and rolling, but refuse mounting and copulation (da Silva et al., 2006). The end of proestrus is marked by females' acceptance to the male (Olson et al., 1984). Estrus period is a phase for mating that normally lasts for 2-19 days (Shille et al., 1979). Females exhibit similar behaviors to those observed during proestrus, but allow a male to mount and copulate. The typical signs of estrus are vocalization, lordosis, pelvis elevation, tail deviation, and the hind limbs treading, especially in the presence of a tom (da Silva et al., 2006). The estrus behavior is related to the follicular phase, which is defined as the period of time when the follicles produce and secrete high levels of estrogens (Verhage et al., 1976). The estrogens in blood stream continue to increase and reach a peak concentration on Day 3 of the follicular phase and rapidly decline (Banks and Stabenfeldt, 1982), although most queens continue so show estrus behavior for 1-4 days after the follicular phase is ended (Shille et al., 1979). Even if ovulation is induced and plasma progesterone starts to increase, the sexual receptivity behavior of the queen continues until the end of the estrus phase (Paape et al., 1975). The queen will enter the interestrus phase when the period of estrus is over. If ovulation does not occur during estrus, the queen will enter an anovulatory interestrus phase (da Silva et al., 2006), and proceed into proestrus again. In addition, the non-ovulatory cycles were characterized by a serum progesterone concentration on Days 11–15 that is below 5 nmol/L and a normal interestrus interval of 7-14 days (Chatdarong et al., 2006). If the ovulation occurs during estrus, the queen will become either pregnant or pseudopregnant (Feldman and Nelson, 1996). Ovulatory cycles were characterized by a serum progesterone concentration on Days 11–15 that is above 5 nmol/L and the duration of interestrus phase was more than 30 days (Chatdarong et al., 2006). The average of interestrus period is 9 days (Kutzler, 2007). The female returns to normal behavior and does not attract to the tom cat (Feldman and Nelson, 1996). Diestrus is a period of progesterone-dominated luteal phase, which is the phase after estrus if ovulation occurs. The corpora lutea develop 24-48 hours after ovulation (Wildt et al., 1981) and start producing and secreting progesterone, which inhibits the secretion of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH) from the pituitary gland. At the end of diestrus, the queen proceeds into either proestrus or anestrus, depending on the season (Feldman and Nelson, 1996). The anestrus is a phase of reproductive inactivity which estrogen and progesterone remain in their basal level (Brown, 2011). The queens are neither attract to the tom cats nor express any sexual behavior.

#### หาลงกรณมหาวทยาลัย

The queen is considered as an induced ovulator, with copulation triggering the release of luteinizing hormone (LH) from the pituitary gland leading to ovulation (Feldman and Nelson, 1996). Ovulation in the queen is dependent on several factors (the number of mating, mating intervals and individual differences in the LH peak) (Concannon et al., 1980). Multiple copulations are required for ovulation induction (Concannon et al., 1980). However, it has been described that many queens can spontaneously ovulate in the presence of a tomcat or estrous queens. It has been reported that spontaneous ovulation occurs up to 60% of the female cats (Kutzler,

2007). In several wild felids, including, clouded leopard, lion and fishing cat (Pelican et al., 2006b), the presence of estrous females often triggers ovulation (Pelican et al., 2006a).

#### 1.2.2 Folliculogenesis in the domestic cats

Folliculogenesis is a complex process regulated by various autocrine, paracrine and endocrine factors (Demeestere et al., 2005). Folliculogenesis begins with the formation of the primordial follicles which initiates during the fetal life in the human, monkey, horse, cow and pig, but not until during neonatal period in the mouse and rat or later in the second or third weeks after birth in cats, dogs, ferrets, rabbits and minks (Peter and McNatty, 1980). Most primordial follicles (90%) leave the resting pool via apoptosis, while the remainders are activated by poorly understood mechanisms to enter the growing follicle pool and develop into the primary, secondary and antral stage (Picton, 2001; Gougeon, 2010). During the early stage of follicle development, the oocyte rapidly increases in size; however, as folliculogenesis proceeds, the growth rate significantly declines and the gamete reaches the maximum size shortly after antral formation (Griffin et al., 2006; Reynaud et al., 2009; Songsasen et al., 2009).

The developmental stage of ovarian follicles can be divided into primordial follicles, primary follicle, secondary follicle and antral follicle (Table 1). The oocytes are approximately 85–100 µm in size and usually positioned in the cortex of the ovary (Bristol-Gould and Woodruff, 2006).

In adult domestic cat ovaries, all types of follicle primordial, primary, secondary and antral are present. The average number of primordial follicles in feline ovaries was estimated as 74,520 (Gosden and Telfer, 1987). Microscopic evaluation of harvested follicles population from mechanical dissection by using a cell dissection sieve reveals that almost 90% are primordial and primary follicles (diameter = 40-50  $\mu$ m), and 10% are secondary follicles (<60  $\mu$ m), which slightly different from recent study using light and transmission electron microscopy to estimate the population of ovarian follicles and morphologically characterize preantral follicular stages in queens' ovary report that the queen ovaries present 37,853 ± 6,118 preantral follicles, with consist of 87% primordial (22-41  $\mu$ m), 10.4% primary (25-64  $\mu$ m) and 2.3% secondary follicles (43-110  $\mu$ m) (Carrijo et al., 2010). Only about 2% of all follicles leave the resting pool of primordial follicles and start growing (Jewgenow and Paris, 2006). The follicle classification is divided into eight types as following in Table 2.

Chulalongkorn University

Classification	Type of follicles	Morphology
Primodial follicle (PrF)	1	A small oocyte with no follicle cells attached to its surface
	CHI N	$\mathbb{A}$ small oocyte has a few cells attached to its cell surface, but not a complete ring of cells
Primary follicle (PF)	JLAL 3a	A complete ring of follicle cells surrounds the oocyte (≤20 cells)
	ONG c	A complete ring of follicle cells surrounds a growing oocyte (21-60 cells)
Secondary follicle (SF)	KOR t	Two layers of follicle cells surround a growing oocyte (61-100 cells)
	2a Za	Three layers of follicle cells (101 to 200 cells) contain with the oocyte (<70 $\mu m$ )
	2p	Fully grown oocyte is surrounded by many layers of follicle cells (201-400 cells)
Antral follicle (AF)	ersi 9	A large oocyte with many layers of cells separated by scattered areas of fluid (401-600 cells)
	TY 2	A follicle with a single cavity containing follicle fluid and form cumulus oophorus (≤600 cells)
Preovulatory follicle (POF)	ω	A large follicle with a single cavity with follicle fluid and cumulus stalk

Table 2. Classification of follicles in the ovary (Pedersen and Peters, 1968).

During folliculogenesis, ooplasm and granulosa cells connect via gap junctions (Russell et al., 2016). Granulosa cell plays an important role in oocyte growth and maturation by providing essential nutrients to oocyte (Coticchio et al., 2015). The gap junctions allow small molecules, such as calcium, pyruvate, inositol, amino acid and intracellular signaling molecules to pass from granulosa cells to the oocyte (Downs, 1995; Webb et al., 2002; Luvoni et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2014). Oocytes metabolize pyruvate through oxidative phosphorylation to produce energy for growth and maturation (Roberts et al., 2004). The granulosa cells of preantral follicles sort into two differentiated populations at the time of follicular antrum formation: mural granulosa cells, which line the follicular wall, and cumulus granulosa cells, which are associated with the oocyte (Wigglesworth et al., 2015). While mural granulosa cells produce steroid hormones, cumulus cells play roles in supporting oocyte growth and maturation (Mattioli and Barboni, 2000; Gilchrist et al., 2004) by maintain meiotic arrest and the resumption of meiosis. Granulosa cells produce natriuretic peptide precursor type C (NPPC) which binds to NPPC receptors (NPR2) on cumulus cells resulting in cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) production. The cGMP transfers to the oocyte via gap junctions to inhibit phosphodiesterase 3A (PDE3A), Therefore, the hydrolysis of cAMP is inhibited resulting in maintenance oocyte meiotic arrest. After LH surge, oocyte cAMP falls because the gap junctions are closed. The granulosa cell derived epidermal growth factors increases and activate MAPK pathway for meiotic resumption, with cumulus cells expansion (Dumesic et al., 2015).

Gonadotropins and the paracrine factors (the oocytes secrete paracrine factors such as growth differentiation factor 9 (GDF9) (Gilchrist et al., 2004) and bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) (Persani et al., 2014) promote follicular growth and differentiation (Vanderhyden et al., 1990; Knight and Glister, 2003). In addition, FSH plays an important role in promoting granulosa cell proliferation and differentiation from preantral follicles stage (Eppig, 1991). FSHR expression is triggered by oocytederived GDF9 (Orisaka et al., 2006). FSH stimulation is also essential for LHCGR expression. LH also plays a major role in regulating follicle and oocyte maturation (De Los Reyes et al., 2017). LH exerts its effects through binding to its receptor (LHCGR) and enhances the final differentiation of the granulosa cells and the enzymes responsible for androgen production in the theca cells (Hattori et al., 2018). Besides the factors described above, various local factors such as insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) (Zhao et al., 2001), epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Fujihara et al., 2014; Alves et al., 2017), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (Lu et al., 2015) have to work synergistically in an autocrine or paracrine manner to enhance granulosa cell proliferation, maintenance of follicular integrity, and the survival of oocytes in vitro.

1.2.3 Estrous induction and manipulation in domestic cats and wild felids

Estrous induction has been performed as one of the assisted breeding techniques for the animals that missed breeding opportunities, treatment of prolong anestrus, attempted to service in non-breeding seasonal, superovulation and synchronization of ovulation for embryo transfer programs (Kutzler, 2007). The most common hormones used to stimulate folliculogenesis in felids are pFSH (Tsutsui et al., 1989; Verstegen et al., 1993) and eCG (Wildt et al., 1978). The recent availability of recombinant follicle stimulating hormone (rhFSH), with its high level of purity and batch-to-batch consistency appear to be an attractive alternative for ovarian stimulation in several mammalian species (Daya and Gunby, 2000). However, FSH has a short half-life and need to be used twice daily for 3-6 consecutive days that in turn, can cause stress to the animals (Kutzler, 2007). Thus, apart from FSH, other hormones have been used and are considered as potentially alternatives for estrous induction in wild felids. In contrast to pFSH, eCG has a long half-life. This gonadotropin can initiate folliculogenesis after a single injection (Tsutsui et al., 2000b). Due to this important reason, eCG is generally used in practice (Tsutsui et al., 2000b; Graham et al., 2006; Pelican et al., 2006a; Kutzler, 2007; Santymire et al., 2011). However, the disadvantage of eCG in felids are anti-gonadotropin antibodies (Swanson et al., 1995) and less precise information about an appropriate dose for either domestic cat or wild felids (Barone et al., 1994). Folliculogenic and luteotrophic activities of eCG have been well documented in vivo and in vitro. In the cats, eCG traditionally uses for stimulate follicular growth. High dosages or multiple injections of eCG are known to induce ovulation (Swanson et al., 1997). The gonadotropin responsiveness is influenced by the stage of estrous cycle, for an example the good ovarian response to gonadotropin treatment in Cheetah has been observed when they are under anestrous stage or inactive ovarian activity (Howard et al., 1997).

Several protocols using eCG to induce follicular development and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) to induce ovulation (Table 2) prior to artificial insemination (AI) have been developed in the domestic cat for application in wild felids (Pelican et al., 2006b). Unfortunately, the success rate of AI remains inconsistent in many wild cat species including tiger (Donoghue et al., 1990; Pukazhenthi and Wildt, 2004), clouded leopard (Howard et al., 1997), and puma (Barone et al., 1994). The pregnancy rates from AI after gonadotropin treatment are 12.5% in pumas (Barone et al., 1994), 10% in tigers (Donoghue et al., 1996) and 20% in clouded leopards (Barone et al., 1994). The reason for the low AI success rate in felids is likely multifactorial and varied among different species. The studies in the domestic cat suggested that the elimination rate of eCG in blood circulation are very slow. This phenomenon can cause ancillary follicle and secondary corpora luteal formation (Swanson et al., 1995) resulting in an abnormal endocrine environment (Graham et al., 2000). Another study comments that the low ovulation rate may associated with LH receptor on gonadotropin treated cats. The low eCG dosages may be insufficient to stimulate LH receptor expression in some wild felids. Earlier report of eCG/hCG regimens showed ovarian hyperstimulation in the puma (Miller et al., 1990), cheetah (Howard et al., 1992), clouded leopard (Howard et al., 1997) and fishing cat (Santymire et al., 2011). From the results of those relevant studies, it is appeared to be remarkable that there is species specific sensitivity to eCG among felids species and should be reminded that the chorionic gonadotropin dosage is not depend on body mass (Barone et al., 1994) (Table 3).

	Average	Gonadotrop	ins dosage		
Species	body weight (kg)	eCG (IU)	hcg (IU)	Outcomes	References
		100	75	95% exhibited behavioral estrus	Swanson et al., 1997
Domestic cat	2	100	75	100% fecal estradiol metabolite concentration increased	Graham et al., 2000
		150	100	83% proportion of recovered oocytes grade mature	Roth et al., 1997
Black-footed cat	2	100 100	112	100% Estradiol peak	Herrick et al., 2010
Tigrina	2	200 002	150	25% pregnancy	Swanson and Brown, 2004
Sand cat	2.5	150	100	100% estradiol peak	Herrick et al., 2010
		100	75	100% estradiol peak	Brown et al., 2002
Pallas' cat	3.5	VER 002	150	100% estradiol peak	Brown et al., 2002
		SIT 008	150	66% estradiol peak	Brown et al., 2002
Fishing cat	9	150	100	100% fecal estradiol metabolite concentration hyper-elevated	Santymire et al., 2011
		100	75	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	Swanson et al., 1996
+0	C	200	150	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	Swanson et al., 1996
	л	400	150	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	Swanson et al., 1996
		500	225	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	Swanson et al., 1996

Table 3. Comparison of gonadotropins dosages in different felids species.

19

	0		10	10	10	96	96	96	76	76	76	76	76	76	)6
Deferences	אפופורכב	Brown et al., 1999	Howard et al., 19	Howard et al., 199	Howard et al., 199	Howard et al., 199	Howard et al., 199	Howard et al., 19	Howard et al., 19	Howard et al., 199	Howard et al., 19	Pelican et al., 200			
	CALCOTIES	100% peak preovulatory estradiol concentration	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	25% ovulation	100% ovulation	80% ovulation	80% ovulation	100% ovulation	100% ovulation	42% ovulation			
ins dosage	hcg (IU)	50	a 75	50	15	25 25	75	100	75 15	75	75	75	140	280	75
Gonadotropi	eCG (IU)	25	20	<b>1</b> 2 <b>1</b> 2	100 100	IGK 05	0 RN 001	200	25	/ER 20	SIT <sup>2</sup>	100	200	400	100
Average body	weight (kg)							с Г	C I						
	- hurden														

17													
	References	Roth et al., 1997	Howard et al., 1997	Howard et al., 1997	Howard et al., 1997	Barone et al., 1994	Barone et al., 1994	Miller et al., 1990	Moore et al., 1981	Miller et al., 1990	Umapathy et al., 2007	Donoghue et al., 1993	
	Outcomes	100% elevated serum estradiol-17ß	16% ovulation	70% Ovulation	70% ovulation	75% ovulation	50% ovulation	80% follicular development	100% ovulation, 33% pregnancy	100% follicular development	76% overt signs of behavioral estrus	overt signs of behavioral estrus	
	hCG (IU)	300	100	100	250	100	100	800	1,000	800	750	750	
	tropir (	Chul						NIV	ERS	SITY			
	Gonadc eCG (IL	600	100	200	400	100	200	1,000	1,250	2,000	750	1,000	
	Average body weight	30		35				35			120	200	
	Species	Snow leopard	ī	Cheetah				Puma			Asiatic lion	Siberian tiger	

#### 1.2.4 Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ARTs) in the cats

In the last four decades, there has been extensive progress in feline assisted reproduction. Artificial insemination (AI) in domestic cats often used in research to serve as a model for wild felids species. The first successful pregnancy from AI was occurred in 1970 (Sojka et al., 1970). To date, AI technique using fresh, chilled and frozen semen has been developed. The sperm concentration and the insemination site are critical for successful fertilization (Table 4). In the absence of the mating stimuli, ovulation must be artificially induced before AI. Spermatozoa should be inseminated within 49 hours after ovulation induction because no fertilizations occurred after this time (Sojka et al., 1970; Howard et al., 1993). While the frozen-thawed spermatozoa, which affected sperm longevity, should inseminate close to ovulation. The insemination tools and techniques are modified in many studies. The AI techniques divide into two main methods. First, the surgical methods, including intrauterine AI (Swanson and Godke, 1994; Tsutsui et al., 2000a; Tsutsui et al., 2011), laparoscopic intrauterine AI (Roth et al., 1997b), intratubal AI (Tsutsui et al., 2001) and laparoscopic oviductal AI (Lambo et al., 2012; Swanson, 2012). Second, the non-surgical methods consist of intravaginal AI (Tanaka et al., 2000), Transcervical AI (intrauterine AI with tom cat catheter) (Zambelli and Cunto, 2005) and endoscopic intrauterine AI (Zambelli et al., 2015a; Zambelli et al., 2015b). However, to fertilization achievement, bearing in mind that AI success rate is influenced by type of spermatozoa, the number of total spermatozoa used, the site of sperm deposition (Tsutsui, 2006) and ovulation time (Howard et al., 1992).

The concepts of *in vitro* producing embryo from the oocyte has been developed in both domestic and wild cats in order to conserve the female gamete from the ovariohysterectomy or accidentally died. The cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs) are rescued from the ovaries and cultured. The classification of COCs is divided into four grades as shown in Table 5.



**Chulalongkorn University** 

	Fresh semen		Frozen semen	
	(10 <sup>6</sup> spermatozoa)	Pregnancy rate	(10 <sup>6</sup> spermatozoa)	Pregnancy rate
Intravagina	5-50	54	50-100	11
	80	78	25	0
Intrauterine	2.4-19.2	14*	50	57
	an an LAI	50**	40***	28
	1.00	80	25	75
Intratubal	i ci ci	25	10***	80*
	ນ໌ <del>(</del> (0R	43 0	9	20**
*AI before ovulation, **AI afi	ter ovulation, ***epididymal spe	un version and	2 Mill	
	รัฐ เวิ่า ปก			
	าลั ERS			

Table 4. The summary of artificial insemination guideline in domestic cat.

- =	Five or more layers of cumulus cells
=	- - -
	I WO TO TOUT LAYERS OT CUMULUS CELLS
III Partial Layer	ers of cumulus cells with complete corona radiata
Pa	artially-to-completely denuded oocytes
Pa	artially-to-completely denuded oocytes
The good quality COCs (class I and II) have ability to develop more than poor quality. Therefore, the COCs grading before in vitro maturation is one of the important steps of successful fertilization (Wood and Wildt, 1997). The in vitro maturation (IVM) is important process which is allowing the good quality COCs to develop into metaphase II stage and prompt for fertilization (Pope et al., 1997). After maturation process, there are two techniques for in vitro insemination. First, in vitro fertilization (IVF) (Pope et al., 1993), the viable spermatozoa penetrated to mature oocyte and fertilization occurred. Second, intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) (Pope et al., 2012), the sperm (from ejaculated sperm (Pope et al., 1998), epididymal sperm (Bogliolo et al., 2001) and testicular sperm (Comizzoli et al., 2006; Buarpung et al., 2013)) is injected into the oocyte by the glass capillary pipette. The embryo from both IVF and ICSI procedures can be transferred into egg donors or into gonadotropin treated recipients (Pope, 2000). The embryo transfer (ET) has been performed in both domestic (Dresser et al., 1988; Kanda et al., 1995) and wild cats using both fresh (Kanda et al., 1995) and cryopreserved embryos (Dresser et al., 1988). Transferring embryos to either the oviduct or the uterine horn has resulted in pregnancies (Pope et al., 1994; Pope et al., 2006).

During the last twenty years, *In vitro* follicle culture presents a possibility to grow early stage follicles to the advanced stage producing developmentally competence oocytes (Jewgenow, 1998; Fujihara et al., 2012; Gupta and Nandi, 2012; Songsasen et al., 2012). Such approach would benefit young cancer survivors who are facing infertility or premature menopause due to cancer treatments. Furthermore, this strategy also rescues genetics of endangered wildlife that die prematurely or unexpectedly before being able to reproduce.

For the cat, previous studies have shown that ovarian tissue culture of primordial and primary follicles sustained their viability up to 14 d if culture on an agarose gel since the tissue can expose to the oxygen in *in vitro* environment (Fujihara et al., 2012). Secondary and early antral follicles have been cultured directly in the culture plate (two-dimensional culture system). The most successful experiments were carried out in the mouse since it was possible to obtain normal offspring from preantral follicles culture (Motohashi et al., 2011). Although this two-dimensional culture system has been successful in the rodent model, it has not been shown to support follicular development in larger mammalian (West et al., 2007). It may be because the lack of proper development of their larger oocyte size and required longer culture period for larger animal species (West et al., 2007). After three to five days of culture, the follicles lose their structure by attachment on the culture plate surface (Desai et al., 2012). Follicles cultured in two-dimensional approach lose their normal morphology within 3 to 5 days, as the granulosa cells proliferate and spread across the surface of the plate (Desai et al., 2012). This results in follicle extrusion, basement membrane disruption and dysfunction of the gap junctions, which play a key role for the communication between the oocyte and cumulus cells (Gilchrist et al., 2008). Dysfunction of the gap junctions can cause arrest in follicular growth and impaired meiotic competence (Teng et al., 2016). Thus, the three-dimensional culture system imitates ovarian stromal structure was invented in order to sustain follicular architecture. Although, live mouse offspring were produced from preantral follicle cultured in alginate hydrogel (Xu et al., 2006a), this approach has not resulted in live birth in other species, including the cat. During the last decade, the biomedical engineering techniques became important tools for discover the novel materials to mimic ovarian cortex texture. The small size follicles

need more density surrounding tissue than the larger size counterparts (Kreeger et al., 2005). Therefore, the appropriate biomaterials for follicle culture must 1.) maintain their spherical architecture and contact with surrounding somatic cells (Green and Shikanov, 2016) 2.) absorb nutrients and exchange waste products between the follicle and culture medium (Li et al., 1996) 3.) non or less toxicity to the follicle (Vanacker and Amorim, 2017) and 4.) degradable material allowing follicle growth (Shikanov et al., 2011; Shea et al., 2014; Zhou and Shikanov, 2018). Various types of biomaterials such as collagen (Loret de Mola et al., 2004; Sharma et al., 2009), alginate (Xu et al., 2009a; Xu et al., 2009b; Xu et al., 2010; Brito et al., 2014; Filatov et al., 2015; Vanacker and Amorim, 2017), fibrin (Xu et al., 2013; Luyckx et al., 2014; Paulini et al., 2016), collagen-alginate (Kreeger et al., 2005) fibrin-alginate (Shikanov et al., 2009; Brito et al., 2016) and matrigel-alginate (Vanacker et al., 2012; Sadr et al., 2018) have been applied for these purposes.

1.2.5 Factors influence folliculogenesis

Folliculogenesis starts when the resting follicles leave their ovarian reserve pool to enter the growing phase. The understanding of molecular mechanisms control activation of resting follicles is important for clinical implications in mobilizing resting follicles in patients suffering from infertility due to either ovarian dysfunction or cancer treatments (Luyckx et al., 2013; Amorim and Shikanov, 2016; Chiti et al., 2016; Paulini et al., 2016; Chiti et al., 2017). Various mechanisms regulating follicular growth and atresia in mammalian ovaries have been clarified, not only their responses to gonadotropin hormone or endocrine stimulation but also their intraovarian regulation by growth factors, cytokines and intracellular proteins (Knight and Glister, 2003). Autocrines, paracrines and endocrines from follicular cell itself are the factors effecting to follicular growth and development (Gilchrist et al., 2006). The oocyte and somatic cells are driving folliculogenesis from the primordial to the preovulatory follicle stage (Eppig et al., 1997; Eppig, 2001; Gilchrist et al., 2004). The secreting factors from each follicle cell type contribute their action either directly or indirectly by supporting other growth factors function (Fortune, 2003; Su et al., 2003). The growth and development of follicles are depended on effective two-way communication between oocyte and its surrounding follicular cells (Su et al., 2004; Hirao, 2012). Paracrine factors regulating folliculogenesis can divide into oocyte-secreted factors (OSFs) (Gilchrist et al., 2008; Emori and Sugiura, 2014), granulosa cell secreting factors (Monniaux, 2016) and theca cell secreting factor (Parrott and Skinner, 1998; Orisaka et al., 2009). However, the previous studies are widely discussed in mouse (Eppig et al., 1996; Eppig and O'Brien, 1996; Eppig et al., 1998) and human (Telfer and McLaughlin, 2011). In the cat, there are some publications concerning the impact of growth factors on follicular development (Alves et al., 2012; Fujihara et al., 2012; Fujihara et al., 2014; Alves et al., 2017; Thuwanut et al., 2017). However, the overall mechanisms effecting folliculogenesis in the cat still need further investigation.

One of the interesting factors is insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I). Several studies found the stimulating effect of IGF-I on ovarian folliculogenesis by enhance both proliferation and differentiation of follicular cells by potentiating gonadotropin's actions (Monget et al., 1996; Mason and Franks, 1997). The interaction between IGF-I and FSH increases mRNA levels of IGF-I and FSHR, and FSH increases the expression of the IGFR-I mRNA in caprine secondary follicle culture (Brito et al., 2012). Moreover, IGF-I also stimulates steroidogenesis in thecal cells (Spicer and Stewart, 1996). In bovine, it was clearly established that, IGF-I stimulates proliferation of granulosa cells from 1–3 mm follicles (Monget et al., 2002) and stimulate secretion of progesterone by granulosa from the follicles which are larger than 5 mm (Monniaux and Pisselet, 1992). In the mouse, low doses of IGF-I (1 or 10 ng/mL) increases diameter of 140-160 µm preantral follicle, while 100 ng/mL exerts no effect (Zhao et al., 2001). From the previous studies, it can infer that the effect of IGF-I is depended on the stage of follicle development or different pathways of the intracellular signaling during follicle growth. In the cat, IGF-I exerts positive effects on follicles collected during the luteal phase (Alves et al., 2012). Moreover, the combination of IGF-I and epidermal growth factor (EGF) have been shown to promote preantral follicles growth, but not the enclosed oocyte (Alves et al., 2017). Therefore, IGF-I driving folliculogenesis from preantral to antral stage is also interesting to discover in the cat.

Another key factor is stem cell factor (SCF), which is a cytokine growth factor secreted by granulosa cells. SCF presents in all stages of follicle development in the mouse (Driancourt et al., 2000) and human (Tuck et al., 2015). SCF supports primordial follicle growth in the rat (Parrott and Skinner, 1999) and rhesus monkey (Lu et al., 2015). This paracrine signal binds to c-kit receptor which is expressed in theca cells and oocytes (Hutt et al., 2006a; Hutt et al., 2006b; Thomas and Vanderhyden, 2006). The SCF promotes the growth of primordial germ cells and regulate oogenesis and folliculogenesis (Parrott and Skinner, 1998) as well as support follicle survival. (Carlsson et al., 2006). In the cat, SCF promotes primordial to secondary follicles growth activation through the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway by upregulating mRNA expression of its receptor (Thuwanut et al., 2017). However, there have been no studies that recognize the effect of SCF in the preantral to antral follicles in this species. Therefore,

the information of the role of SCF on the middle to late stage folliculogenesis may improve the *in vitro* follicle culture quality in the cat.

# 1.3 Thesis Objective

1. To investigate responsiveness of domestic cat follicles to eCG at different developmental stages.

2. To determine the tiger follicle responsiveness to eCG.

3. To examine the effect of eCG in combination with IGF-I and/or SCF on various

stages of folliculogenesis

# 1.4 Hypothesis

1. Follicles at different developmental stages show differ responses to eCG.

2. The responsiveness of tiger follicles to eCG is different from the domestic

cat.

3. The influence of eCG in combination with IGF-I and/or SCF is different among developmental stages.

4. *In vitro* follicle culture with eCG and growth factors improve follicle development in domestic cat.

# 1.5 Keyword GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Feline, folliculogenesis, growth factor, in vitro culture, preantral follicle

# 1.6 Research merits

1. Provide basic knowledge of feline folliculogenesis during secondary follicle to antral follicle stage.

2. Describe the responsiveness of the follicle after eCG stimulation in the domestic cat and the tiger.

3. Provide *in vitro* stimulation protocols of eCG alone or combination with growth factors for domestic cat follicle.

- 4. Potentially produce antral follicle from *in vitro* culture.
- 5. Develop the assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) in order to apply in

genetically valuable wild felids.



#### Chapter II

## Equine chorionic gonadotropin induces in vitro follicular growth from

# the multi-layered secondary developmental stage in cats

## 2.1 Abstract

Equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG) has been commonly used to induce estrus in several felid species. However, the mechanisms by which this gonadotropin regulates cat folliculogenesis are still unclear. We investigated the responsiveness of cat ovarian follicles at different developmental stages to various eCG concentrations supplemented in vitro. Follicles were mechanically isolated from the ovaries of 22 cats and categorized into three developmental stages based on their morphology and diameter: 1) two-layered secondary follicle (SF), 100-150 µm (n = 139); 2) multi-layered SF, 150-300  $\mu$ m (n = 154); and 3) early antral follicle (AF),  $\geq$  300-500  $\mu$ m (n = 123). The follicles were then encapsulated in 0.5 % (w/v) sodium alginate and cultured for 12 days in Minimum Essential Medium supplemented with 0, 0.05, 0.1 or 0.5 IU/mL eCG. Follicle and oocyte diameters were assessed every 3 days. On Day 12, mRNA expression levels of FSHR, LHCGR, GDF9, BMP15, CYP17A1, CYP19A1 and STAR were analyzed using real-time PCR. After being cultured for 12 days, follicle growth and mRNA expression of two-layered SF were not influenced by eCG at all concentrations (P > 0.05). However, the concentration of eCG at 0.05 IU/mL stimulated follicular growth and gene expressions in the multi-layered SF and early AF (P < 0.05). Correspondingly, the diameter of oocytes in the multi-layered SF and early AF treated with 0.05 IU/mL eCG was unchanged. Considering the mRNA expression, the level of STAR was enhanced in the early AF (P < 0.05) and tended to increase in the multilayered SF (P = 0.08) cultured in 0.05 IU/mL eCG, whereas the expression of other genes was not affected. In sum, the responsiveness of cat follicles to eCG is apparent from the multi-layered SF stage onward. The eCG supplementation at 0.05 IU/mL appeared to be optimal for the follicle culture in the domestic cats.

#### 2.2 Introduction

Reproductive outcomes of the zoo-housed felids are poor due to behavioral incompatibility (DeCaluwe et al., 2016) and poor semen quality (Axner and Linde Forsberg, 2007; Ruiz-Lopez et al., 2012). Therefore, assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs), including estrous synchronization and artificial insemination (AI) have been introduced to produce offspring from non-reproductive animals and help to maintain gene diversity ex situ (Brown, 2011). Exogenous gonadotropins, including equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG), porcine follicle stimulating hormone (pFSH), gonadotropin releasing hormone agonist (GnRH agonist), human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), human menopausal gonadotropin (hMG) and porcine luteinizing hormone (pLH) have been used to manipulate reproductive cycles in both domestic and wild cats, including tigers (Donoghue et al., 1996; Chagas e Silva et al., 2000; Gjorret et al., 2002; Graham et al., 2006), Asiatic lions (Umapathy et al., 2007), cheetahs (Brown et al., 1996), snow leopards (Brown et al., 1994), clouded leopards (Tipkantha et al., 2017), ocelots (Swanson et al., 1996), fishing cats (Santymire et al., 2011), Pallas's cats (Delaski and Gamble, 2015), sand cats (Herrick et al., 2010), tigrinas (Micheletti et al., 2015) and black-footed cats (Pope et al., 2012) with varying results. Although eCG has been frequently used for folliculogenesis purposes in felids, understanding of the associated molecular changes is limited.

Several genes are involved during folliculogenesis, and can therefore be used as indicators for ovarian follicle development, i.e., oocyte growth and granulosa cell proliferation. An *in vitro* bioassay study has demonstrated that eCG stimulate folliclestimulating hormone receptor (*FSHR*) and luteinizing hormone/chorionic gonadotropin receptor (*LHCGR*) expression in the granulosa cells (Saint-Dizier et al., 2007). From preantral to early antral follicular stage, growth differentiation factor-9 (*GDF-9*) plays both an autocrine and a paracrine role in regulating oocyte growth and granulosa cell proliferation, respectively (Thomas et al., 2003).

Bone morphogenetic protein-15 (*BMP-15*) is also an oocyte derived factor that plays a key role in follicular growth after the primary follicular stage (Cadenas et al., 2017). In addition to the assessment of oocyte growth, granulosa cell proliferation and theca cell formation can be determined by the up-regulation of cytochrome P450 aromatase (*CYP19A1*) and cytochrome P450 steroid 17  $\alpha$ -hydroxylase/17,20 lyase (*CYP17A1*), respectively. These enzymes are involved in estrogen and androgen production, and thus, indicate the degree of steroidogenesis. Moreover, steroidogenesis representing the advanced stage of folliculogenesis could be determined by the expression of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (*STAR*) in the granulosa and theca cells (Murayama et al., 2012).

Previous studies in cats have demonstrated that FSH supplemented medium accelerated *in vitro* growth of isolated follicles (Songsasen et al., 2012). However, there was no report on eCG supplementation *in vitro* despite eCG being widely used to induce estrus *in vivo*. The aims of the present study were to investigate the responsiveness of different follicle developmental stages to eCG and the optimal concentration of eCG to support *in vitro* follicle growth in domestic cats.

## 2.3 Materials and Methods

The procedures used in this study was approved by Chulalongkorn University Animal Care and Use Committee.

2.3.1 Chemicals

All chemicals used in this study were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA, unless otherwise indicated.

2.3.2 Sample collection

Inactive ovaries without corpora lutea and containing < 2 mm follicles were collected from 22 domestic cats (aged between 5 months and 3 years) that underwent routine ovariohysterectomies at local veterinary clinics in Front Royal, Stephens City, and Harrisonburg, Virginia, USA. Ovaries were transported to the laboratory at 4°C in L-15 medium supplemented with antibiotics (3 mg/mL penicillin G sodium, and 3 mg/mL streptomycin sulfate) within 6 h after surgery.

2.3.3 Follicles isolation, encapsulation and culture

Upon arrival at the laboratory, two-layered secondary follicles (100-150  $\mu$ m; n = 139) and multi-layered secondary follicles (150-300  $\mu$ m; n = 154) were mechanically isolated from one ovary of each cat using a method described by Jewgenow and Goritz (Jewgenow and Göritz, 1995). The remaining ovary of each cat was processed for the isolation of early antral follicles (the presence of an antral cavity and surrounded by two to three layers of thecal cells, diameter less than 500  $\mu$ m; n = 123) using a 25-gauge needle as described by Kreeger et al (Kreeger et al., 2005). Individual follicles were then encapsulated into a bead of alginate solution (slightly adapted from methods previously described) (Heise et al., 2005) with the first step being transferred into a 3  $\mu$ L droplet of 0.5% alginate using a 10  $\mu$ L pipette. Single droplets were

immersed into a solution containing 50 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 140 mM NaCl and alginate beads were allowed to cross-link for 2 min, and then washed three times in a culture medium: MEM (supplemented with 3 mg/mL BSA, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 ng/mL activin, 10 µg/mL insulin, 1.9 µg/mL transferrin, 5 µg/mL selenium, 10 IU/mL penicillin G sodium and 10 mg/mL streptomycin sulfate). The entire procedure was performed on a warm plate set at 38°C. Two to three follicles of the same developmental stage were cultured in 500 µL of culture medium supplemented with one of four eCG concentrations (0, 0.05, 0.1 and 0.5 IU/mL) at 38.5°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humidified air for 12 d. Half volume of the culture medium was changed every 3 d throughout the study period.

# 2.3.4 Assessment of follicle and oocyte growth

Follicle and oocyte diameters were assessed under an inverted microscope (Leica LEITZ DM IL; Leica Germany). Each follicle was sized from the outer layer of somatic cells, with the measurements including the widest diameter and perpendicular width in the initial assessment. The mean of these two metrics was calculated and reported in terms of diameter. Oocyte size, excluding the zona pellucida, was evaluated using the same method. The mean actual diameters of each follicle and oocyte on Days 0, 3, 6, 9 and 12 were recorded. The actual diameter of Day 3, 6, 9 and 12 divided by the actual diameter of Day 0 was calculated and reported as the relative diameter of the follicle. Follicles were considered to be degenerating if either the oocyte was no longer surrounded by a layer of granulosa cells; the oocyte was dark, the granulosa cells had become dark and fragmented, or the diameter of the follicle decreased (Xu et al., 2009b).

#### 2.3.5 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)

To examine mRNA expression in follicles of different developmental stages cultured in different concentrations of eCG (total 12 treatment groups), follicles were frozen at -20°C. Total RNA was extracted from cat follicles using an absolutely RNA nanoprep kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol. DNA contamination was treated by Rapid Out DNA removal kit (Thermo-Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). The quantity of RNA was measured using a spectrophotometer (NanoDrop One, Thermo-Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). Complementary DNA was synthesized from mRNA using a Transcriptor High Fidelity cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) with the same amount of mRNA (2 ng from each sample), and stored at -20°C until quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) analysis was performed. SyBr Green Mastermix (FastStart Essential DNA Green Master, Roche, Mannheim, Germany) was applied as a fluorescence probe for qPCR. All primer sequences used in this present study are shown in Table 6. Each PCR reaction consisted of 2 µL DNA and 18 µL of a mixture (10 µL of Fast Start Essential DNA green master (Roche, Basel, Switzerland), 1 µL each of 10 mM forward and reverse primers and 6 µL of nuclease-free water). qPCR reactions were performed in duplicate using Light Cycler® 96 (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Each amplification reaction consisted of the pre-incubation period (95°C for 10 min), 45 cycles of three steps of amplification (95°C for 30 s, specific annealing temperature of primers of interest for 10 s and 72°C for 10 s) and a melting step (65°C for 30 s). The negative control was run together with samples from every amplification. Primer efficiency was performed in each gene by five serial dilutions of DNA. The Ct value of each gene was normalized against the Ct of beta-actin which were shown to be more stable than succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A (SDHA) using Best Keeper software evaluation (Pfaffl et al., 2004). The delta delta Ct ( $\Delta\Delta$ Ct), which included primer efficiency, was used to calculate fold changes of interesting genes in every group of cultures normalized to the control group, as described by Pfaffl (Pfaffl, 2001). Fold change = (1 + primer efficiency)<sup>-( $\Delta\Delta$ Ct)</sup> (Rao et al., 2013)



Primer	Sequence 5'-3'	Accession number	Annealing temperature (°C)	Product size (bp)	Efficiency (%)	Reference
eta-actin	F: ATCCACGAGACCACCTTC	AB051104	57	75	94	Songsasen et al., 2017
	R: CACCGTGTTAGCGTAGAG					
SDHA	F: GCTTGGATCTCCTGATG	DQ402986	57	75	107	Songsasen et al., 2017
FSHR	R: ATGGATGGACCCGTCTTC F: GCCTCACCTAGCCACTG	NM_001048014.1	64	163	84	Hobbs et al., 2012
	R: GTAACTGGATTCCTCGTCTTCTGC	2 2 3 1 3 1 5				
LHCGR	F: GCACAGGAGGAGACCAAATA	XM_011281083.1	58	101	91	Veraguas et al., 2017
	R: CTTGGGTGAGCAGAAACCATAG	1.8.				
GDF9	F: CATCCGTGGACCTGCTATTT	NM_001165900.1	58	129	94	Veraguas et al., 2017
	R: CCAGGTTGCACACACATTTC	18				
BMP15	F: AGGCTTTGGAATAAGAAGGG	NM_001165898.1	55	124	102	*
	R: ACAAAATGCAGTGTCCAAG					
CYP17A1	F: CCGAGATGAGTTGCTGAG	NM_001009371.2	57	105	87	Songsasen et al., 2017
	R: GAGTTCATCCTGGCTTGG					
СҮР19А1	F: CAATCCTGCTGCTCACTG	GU306147.1	57	84	92	Songsasen et al., 2017
	R: CCATGCAATAGCCAGGAC					
STAR	F: ATGGAAGCGATGGGAGAG	NM_001246196.1	57	06	107	Songsasen et al., 2017
	R: CAACTCGTGGGTGATGAC					
*BMP15 was designed	ł by NCBI/ Primer-BLAST.					

Table 6. Primers sequence for qPCR.

40

## 2.3.6 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using R, version 3.3.2 R, (http://www.r-project.org). Normal distribution and equal variances were tested by Shapiro test and Bartlett's test, consecutively. Follicle growth on Days 3, 6, 9 and 12 was presented as the relative diameter compared to the initial diameter (Day 0). The linear mixed model was followed by the least square mean, and a pairwise test (Tukey's HSD) was used to evaluate the differences in the mean relative diameter of the follicles in each developmental stage across 3, 6, 9 and 12 days. A paired t- test was used to compare the difference in growth data of the follicles between Day 0 and Day 12 of culture. The  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct of qPCR expression data from each treatment were analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by pairwise comparisons using Tukey and Kramer (Nemenyi) test. Differences were considered significant when P < 0.05.

2.3.7 Experimental design

Effects of eCG on growth of two-layered SF (100-150 µm), multi-layered SF (150-300 µm) and early AF ( $\geq$  300-500 µm) were tested by culturing the follicles in MEM supplemented with eCG at 0 IU/mL (control), 0.05 IU/mL, 0.1 IU/mL and 0.5 IU/mL. Follicle and oocyte diameters were determined in terms of actual and relative diameter on Days 0, 3, 6, 9 and 12. On Day 12 of culture, all follicles were assessed for mRNA expression of gonadotropin receptor genes (*FSHR* and *LHCGR*), oocyte ligands (*GDF9* and *BMP15*) and steroidogenic enzyme activities (*CYP17A1, CYP19A1* and *STAR*) using qPCR (three replications).

#### 2.4 Results

The follicle of each developmental stage responded differently to eCG supplementation. The actual and relative diameters of two-layered SF were not

different among eCG concentrations (P > 0.05) (Table 7) and among days of culture (P > 0.05) (Fig. 1A). However, the actual diameter of an oocyte of the two-layered SF in all culture treatments decreased on Day 12 of *in vitro* culture (Table 7). On Day 12 of culture, the actual diameter of multi-layered SF supplemented with 0.05 IU/mL eCG was higher than Day 0 (P < 0.05) (Table 7). Furthermore, on Day 12, the relative diameter of follicles incubated in 0.05 IU/mL eCG was higher than those exposed to 0 and 0.1 IU/mL eCG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 1B). The oocyte diameters of multi-layered SF cultured in 0.05 IU/mL and 0.5 IU/mL remained constant whereas the diameter of the gamete in 0 IU/mL and 0.1 IU/mL concentration groups decreased after *in vitro* culture (P < 0.05) (Table 7).

After 12 days of culture, the actual diameter of early AF cultured in all eCG concentrations increased (P < 0.05) (Table 7). However, the relative diameter of the follicles in this stage increased only when cultured in 0.05 IU/mL eCG in relation to Day 3 (P < 0.05) (Fig. 1C). The oocyte diameter of early AF supplemented with eCG at all concentrations was not different from the initial size (P > 0.05) (Table 7).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 7. Mean (± SEM) diameters of follicles and oocytes of various developmental stages on Days 0 and 12 of culture in the medium
containing different concentrations of eCG.

(mii) and chain		٢	Folli	icle (µm)	000)	/te (µm)
		-	Day 0	Day 12	Day 0	Day 12
Two-layered secondary follicle	ຈຸ າ ີ HU 0	37	$133.38\pm 3.59$	129.44±5.59	60.14±1.76 <sup>c</sup>	51.53±2.91 <sup>d</sup>
(100-150 µm)	0.05	40	128.88±4.56	122.03±6.79	56.63±2.26 <sup>c</sup>	44.46±2.79 <sup>d</sup>
	0.10 0NG	35	137.71±3.76	125.76±5.78	62.57±2.49 <sup>c</sup>	49.70±3.03 <sup>d</sup>
	60.5.0	27	141.30±7.05	139.00±9.51	60.74±3.28 <sup>c</sup>	50.00±3.46 <sup>d</sup>
Multi-layered secondary follicle	איז א נ	43	200.58±5.42	196.46±8.68	73.49±1.97 <sup>c</sup>	64.15±2.73 <sup>d</sup>
(150-300 µm)	0.05	41	194.76±6.96 <sup>a</sup>	220.12±14.62 <sup>b</sup>	70.00±1.61	68.66±2.85
	ina ERS 0	32	203.13±6.66	196.29±8.19	70.47±2.34 <sup>c</sup>	58.55±2.85 <sup>d</sup>
	0.5	39	207.50±4.78	214.87±9.69	72.89±1.56	66.45±3.40
Early antral follicle	0	30	366.67±10.99 <sup>a</sup>	416.33±19.45 <sup>b</sup>	88.50±3.87	85.50±3.94
(≥300-500 µm)	0.05	33	335.97±8.56 <sup>a</sup>	396.13±13.13 <sup>b</sup>	88.03±2.51	89.67±3.65
	0.1	32	$347.83\pm11.19^{a}$	391.50±21.45 <sup>b</sup>	95.63±3.21	89.33±3.69
	0.5	28	$336.35\pm11.92^{a}$	372.88±20.08 <sup>b</sup>	89.64±4.40	83.80±4.15

c, d are statistically significant differences (P < 0.05) in oocyte diameter between Day 0 and Day 12 of culture in the same treatment



А



Figure 1. Relative growth of the follicles (compared to day 0). A) Relative growth of two-layered secondary follicles, B) multi-layered secondary follicles, and C) early antral follicles. Values with different superscripts (a, b) within the same treatment differ significantly (P < 0.05).

45







Supplementation of eCG to the culture medium did not influence gene expression levels of the two-layered SF (Fig. 2A). However, eCG supplement at 0.05 IU/mL tended to increased *STAR* expression compared to the control group (P = 0.06) in the multi-layered SF (Fig. 2B). In the early AF, eCG supplementation at 0.05 IU/mL promoted *STAR* expression compared to the 0.1 IU/mL (P < 0.05) (Fig. 2C), while *FSHR*, *LHCGR*, *GDF9*, *BMP15*, *CYP17A1*, *CYP19A1* and *STAR* expressions were not impacted by eCG.

#### 2.5 Discussion

Follicular responses to FSH have been widely studied. Secondary stage follicles have proven to be a gonadotropin responsive stage in many species. However, the follicles were classified into eight types following the study of Pederson and Peter in 1968. The secondary follicles were subdivided into three groups: type 4 (early secondary: 2 layers of granulosa cells), type 5a (mid secondary) and type 5b (late secondary). In the current study, type 5a and type 5b were combined together and referred to as multi-layered SF. Here, the responsiveness of different follicle developmental stages to eCG and the optimal concentration of this gonadotropin to support *in vitro* growth of isolated cat ovarian follicles was evaluated in a three-dimensional culture system. The three different stages of follicles were encapsulated in alginate hydrogel and cultured in a medium supplemented with various doses of eCG for 12 days.

We discovered that eCG affected the development and gene expression of multi-layered SF while this gonadotropin exert no impact on two-layered SF. This assertion is supported by a previous study in cats that demonstrated the lack of responsiveness of the small-sized (60-100  $\mu$ m) SF to FSH despite the presence of FSH

receptors in the granulosa cells (Jewgenow and Pitra, 1993). A previous study in the mouse has also shown that FSH stimulated *in vitro* growth of small SF (<100  $\mu$ m) although the diameter change was less than that of larger follicles >130  $\mu$ m (Hardy et al., 2017). Collectively, it appeared that the onset of responsiveness to gonadotropin stimulation may be slightly delayed in the cat compared to the mouse. The second reason for the lack of *in vitro* growth of the two-layered SF might be the different *in vitro* conditions in which eCG is required for the later developmental stages.

It was found that 0.05 IU/mL eCG supplementation supported the relative growth of multi-layered SF after culture for 12 days compared to control group. The signs of responsiveness were initiated by increasing follicle size and/or an increase in relative growth. Although gene expressions of multi-layered SF were not obviously changed, the levels of mRNA of the receptors (FSHR and LHCGR) and steroidogenic genes (CYP17A1, CYP19A1 and STAR) increased, especially in the 0.05 IU/mL eCGtreated group. Our findings are consistent with that of a study in the mouse where it was demonstrated that high FSH dosages impaired multi-layered SF follicle development. It has been suggested that the detrimental effect of a high gonadotropin concentration is likely due to the disruption of bi-directional communication between oocytes and granulosa cells initiated by the rapid growth of the follicles (Russell et al., 2016). The response of the multi-layered SF to the eCG was different from FSH because the FSH supported follicle growth and steroidogenesis in a dose dependent manner (Songsasen et al., 2011). However, due to the growth and gene expressions of multilayered SF, it may be stated that the proliferation and differentiation of multi-layered SF had occurred. Moreover, the granulosa and theca cells began functioning in terms of producing steroid hormone. However, the enclosed oocytes sustained their size over the culture period and the oocyte specific genes were unchanged.

The beneficial influence of eCG was also found in early AF supplement with the 0.05 IU/mL eCG group. The responses of early AF were characterized by 1) the increase of actual and/or relative follicle diameter, 2) the steroidogenic capability, demonstrated by upregulation of *STAR* mRNA expression, and 3) the maintenance of the oocyte diameter during *in vitro* culture. Even though the absence of eCG in the culture system can conserve follicular structure in alginate hydrogel, proliferation of granulosa cells and ovarian follicle growth required gonadotropin stimulation suggesting that eCG becomes essential. We also found that increasing eCG concentration was not beneficial because *in vitro* follicle growth and expression of genes regulating folliculogenesis were not enhanced with higher gonadotropin dosages (0.1 and 0.5 IU/mL). This evidence may reinforce the fact that early AF in the cat has a limited response to eCG, as demonstrated in the multi-layered SF.

Based on the results of the current study, alginate hydrogel concentration might be one of the contributing factors for follicle development. The rigid hydrogel was required for supporting the growth of two-layered SF while the softer hydrogel allowed the expansion of the medium-size growing follicles, as demonstrated in the mouse (Xu et al., 2006b). A slow growth rate compared to previous reports was found in multi-layered SF and early AF, even if they had significantly grown in size relative to the retrieval follicles. A more easily degradable biomaterials may be applied to support follicular growth and expansion (Shikanov et al., 2009).

For the oocyte growth of the multi-layered SF, eCG sustained oocyte size compared to the control. Various growth factors including epidermal growth factor (EGF) and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) might be applied to regulate the oocytes growth collateral with the growth of the follicles (Zhou and Zhang, 2005). The oocyte of early AF remained their initial size after cultured both in the presence or absence of eCG. This finding suggests that the growth of the oocytes after antral formation was not directly dependent on eCG. The complex mechanisms of the local factors in the oocyte itself, combined with cytokines and growth factors in the follicular fluid, may be associated with oocyte growth (Dumesic et al., 2015).

In terms of the effect of eCG on gonadotropin receptors, eCG did not impact *FSHR* and *LHCGR* expressions among treatment groups. In this study, two-layered SF appeared to be gonadotropin-independent. Thus, two-layered SF did not show the activation of *FSHR* and *LHCGR*, which was similar to the findings of the mouse study (Hardy et al., 2017). The lack of changes in *FSHR* and *LHCGR* expression in multi-layered SF and early AF in the presence of eCG was unexpected. The follicle growth should be accompanied by increasing expression of *FSHR* and *LHCGR*, which increase with exposure to FSH-like hormone (Saint-Dizier et al., 2007). The slow growth rate of the follicles in this culture system might contribute to the little change observed in mRNA of receptors.

The present study demonstrated that 0.05 IU/mL eCG had a stimulatory effect on multi-layered SF growth, but presented no effect on oogenesis, nor on oocytederived factor (*GDF9* and *BMP15*) expression. The lack of upregulation of oocyte ligands by eCG in our culture system showed that this culture system failed to support gamete's growth.

In this study, the level of *STAR* transcripts significantly increased in the early AF (P < 0.05), but did not affect the expression of *CYP17A1* and *CYP19A1*. The increase in *STAR* transcript suggested that eCG promotes steroid synthesis by supporting

cholesterol transportation (Manna et al., 2009). A previous study showed that gonadotropins (FSH and LH) activated the cAMP/PKA pathway, which in turn stimulated the production of a series of enzymes involved in steroidogenesis (Filatov et al., 2017). Accordingly, the two specific steroidogenic transcripts, CYP17A1, the gene encoding enzyme required for androgen synthesis (Murayama et al., 2012; Orisaka et al., 2013) and CYP19A1, the gene encoding P450 aromatase enzyme required for estrogen synthesis (Zhao et al., 2016), are produced by theca and granulosa cells, respectively. Non-appearance of CYP17A1 and CYP19A1, especially in the early AF stage, showed that eCG has no stimulating effect on androgen and estrogen production. In contrast with the previous study in the mouse, FSH-dependent expression of genes encoding key steroidogenic enzymes (STAR and CYP19A1) were upregulated in the two-layered SF (Hardy et al., 2017). In conclusion, our findings elucidated that the responsiveness of domestic cat follicles to eCG supplementation depended on the developmental stage. Specifically, cat follicles acquire the responses to gonadotropin treatment when they reached the multi-layered SF stage. Furthermore, we also demonstrated that a low dosage of eCG (0.05 IU/mL) promoted the growth of multi-layered SF and sustained oocyte viability possibly through STAR. Although eCG exerted a modest effect on early AF growth, this gonadotropin upregulated STAR transcript, and thus, potentially influenced steroid production in this developmental stage. Finally, the study provides insight into gonadotropin regulations of cat ovarian follicles, information that is important to develop strategies to provoke in vivo and in vitro folliculogenesis.

#### Chapter III

# Restoration of tiger (Panthera tigris) follicles from frozen-thawed

# ovarian tissues

## 3.1 Abstract

Cryopreservation of gametes is noteworthy as a potential tool to conserve valuable genetics of endangered wild species post-mortem. However, the quality of the follicle and oocyte within the frozen-thawed tissue is the most important part for further applications. Therefore, this study utilized frozen-thawed tiger ovarian tissue to evaluate follicular growth and oocyte nuclear configuration. Six frozen-thawed ovarian tissue from a tiger obtained post-mortem were evaluated (two tissues/replicate). Twelve isolated antral follicles obtained by mechanical isolation method were randomly allocated into two culture conditions (control and 0.05 IU/mL eCG supplementation) and cultured in an alginate hydrogel for three days. Follicle growth was evaluated on Day 0 and Day 3 by using image J program. At the end of culture, decapsulated follicles were stained with neutral red for follicle viability screening test, thereafter the oocytes were collected for nuclear status staining by using Hoechst 33258. The results showed that the follicle diameters in control group significant decreased (P < 0.05) after 3 days of culture. While the follicle diameters of eCG supplementation group were remained in their initial size (P > 0.05). The follicle survival was 100% in both groups. However, the oocyte retrieval was significant difference between the control and eCG groups (33%, n = 6 and 67%, n = 6, respectively) (P < 0.05). The nuclear status of all recovery oocytes was remained in germinal vesicle phase. The present study showed that tiger frozen-thawed antral follicles could not

maintain their morphology and function without eCG supplementation in the culture medium. In sum, eCG plays an important role in tiger antral follicle growth and the survival of the oocyte.

#### 3.2 Introduction

Cryopreservation of genetic resources has proven to be a successful fertility preservation technique (Amorim et al., 2012; Dolmans et al., 2013). The ovarian tissue cryopreservation was developed for application in human cancer patients to preserve the fertility before chemotherapy or radiotherapy (Paulini et al., 2016; Dolmans, 2018). This approach has provided options for those who will lose their reproductive capacity. The biotechnology developed for human has been applied to endangered species for establishing the gamete cryopreservation banks (Jewgenow and Paris, 2006).

The tiger (*Panthera tigris*) is one of the world's most endangered felids species. Tiger population rapidly decreased because of loss of habitat, declined prey population and direct persecution (Goodrich, 2010). Assisted reproductive technology (ART) is considered as an important tool in the conservation of this endangered species, but the limiting factor of ART is the availability of mature oocytes. In cat species, several studies of frozen-thawed domestic cat (Luvoni et al., 2012; Mouttham and Comizzoli, 2017; Brito et al., 2018; Martins et al., 2018) and wild felids (Wiedemann et al., 2012; Wiedemann et al., 2013) ovarian tissue culture were demonstrated. Previous studies were focused on: 1) preantral follicle morphology/viability evaluation; 2) cumulus oocyte complexes culture; and 3.) transplantation of ovarian tissue. However, the information of the isolated follicle culture from the cryopreserved tissues especially in tiger is limited. The aims of the present study were to 1) evaluate the tiger follicle growth in an alginate hydrogel three-dimensional culture system supplemented with/without eCG and 2) investigate the feasibility of female gametes restoration from the frozen thawed tiger ovaries.

## 3.3 Materials and Methods

#### 3.3.1 Chemicals

All chemical used in this study were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA, unless otherwise indicated.

3.3.2 Samples

Two ovaries of post-mortem animal were obtained from The Zoological Park Organization under the Royal Patronage of His Majesty the King. Cryopreserved ovarian tissues were donated from Research unit of Obstetrics and Reproduction in Animals. The storage time in liquid nitrogen was 5 years.

3.3.3 Ovarian tissue thawing

The ovarian tissues were taken out of the cryotubes and transferred into the thawing solution, composed of 12 ml of medium 199 with Earle's salts (M 199), 20% (v/v) fetal calve serum (FCS) and 1 M sucrose at room temperature for 10 min and then transferred to the holding medium composed of M 199 containing 25 mM HEPES and 10% (v/v) FCS prior to follicle culture.

3.3.4 Follicle isolation, encapsulation and culture

Antral follicles (>500  $\mu$ m; n = 12) were isolated from the cortical strips using 25G gauge needles. Individual follicles were then encapsulated into a bead of alginate solution with the first step being transferred into a 5 to 10  $\mu$ L droplet (depended on follicular size) of 0.5% alginate using a 20  $\mu$ L pipette. Single droplets were immersed into a solution containing 50 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 140 mM NaCl and alginate beads were

allowed to cross-link for 2 min, and then washed three times in a culture medium: MEM (supplemented with 3 mg/mL BSA, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 ng/mL activin, 10 µg/mL insulin, 1.9 µg/mL transferrin, 5 µg/mL selenium, 10 IU/mL penicillin G sodium and 10 mg/mL streptomycin sulfate). The entire procedure was performed on a warm plate set at 38°C. Two follicles were cultured in 500 µL of culture medium supplemented with 0 (control) and 0.05 IU/mL eCG at 38.5 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humidified air for 3 d.

3.3.5 Assessment of follicle growth

Follicle diameters were assessed under an inverted microscope. Each follicle was sized from the outer layer of somatic cells, with the measurements including the widest diameter and perpendicular width in the initial assessment. The mean of these two metrics was calculated and reported in terms of diameter. The mean diameters of each follicle on Day 0 and Day 3 were recorded.

3.3.6 Follicle survival and oocyte nuclear configuration

Viability of isolated follicles were primary detected by neutral red. The oocytes of positive stained follicles were collected and transferred into a mixture of 2  $\mu$ M Hoechst 33258 in 500  $\mu$ L holding medium for 15 min in the dark. The nuclear configuration of stained oocytes was examined under a fluorescence microscope (BX51; Olympus) at X 2,000 magnification.

3.3.7 Statistical analysis

Data are analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 23.0 (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Normal distribution and equal variances were tested by Shapiro test and Bartlett's test, respectively. Differences in follicle diameters between Days 0 and 3 were determined by Wilcoxon Signed Rank test. Pearson Chi-Square test was used

to evaluate the differences in the number of oocytes recovery between control and eCG treated group at the end of culture. For all statistical analysis, differences were regarded to be significant if P < 0.05.

#### 3.4 Results

The results of frozen thawed tiger ovarian tissue are presented in Table 8. At the end of culture, the follicle diameter significantly decreased in the control group (P < 0.05), whereas the follicle diameter of eCG treated group sustained their initial size (P > 0.05). However, there was no significant difference between control and eCG treated groups after 3 days of culture (P > 0.05). Although the neutral red staining of all follicles showed 100% follicle survival, the number of oocytes recovered from neutral red positve follicles were not equal to the number of viable follicles. The numbers of rescued oocytes of eCG treated group were not different between two groups (P > 0.05). Only two follicles were recovered from control group (33.33%). Whereas four follicles were retrieved from eCG treated group (66.67%). All oocytes' size was ~ 140  $\mu$ m. The Hoechst 33258 staining elucidated that the nuclear configuration of all rescued oocytes was remained in germinal vesicle stage (Fig. 3). Table 8. Mean  $\pm$  SEM of follicle diameter on Day 0 and 3 of culture and the percentage of oocyte recovery at the end of culture.

Group	n	Follicle diar	Oocyte recovery (%)	
	-	Day 0	Day 3	-
Control	6	1,553.10 ± 269.50 <sup>a</sup>	1,514.58 ± 270.84 <sup>b</sup>	33.33
eCG	6	1,541.45 ± 210.54 <sup>a</sup>	1,644.73 ± 230.90 <sup>a</sup>	66.67
Value with differe	nt superso	cripts (a, b) differ significantly (P<0.05) amo	ong culture days.	
		จุฬาลงกรณ์ส	มหาวิทยาลัย คม IINIVERSITY	
			KN UNIVERSITY	



Figure 3. The germinal vesicle stage oocyte stained with Hoechst 33258 at the end of culture. Scale bar, 50  $\mu m$ .

## 3.5 Discussion

In this study, post mortem tiger ovarian tissues were cryopreserved by vitrification method five years ago. Although the successful vitrification protocols for feline ovarian tissue cryopreservation has been established (Mouttham and Comizzoli, 2017; Martins et al., 2018), the frozen thawed tissues in our experiment showed signs of degeneration (dark and decompose). Our tissue's dimensions were 5 x 5 x 3 mm<sup>3</sup>, approximately. The degeneration may occur because of the oversize tissues. In the baboon, the percentages of normal follicles in vitrified-warmed ovarian tissues slicing into  $0.5 \times 1.5 \times 1 \text{ mm}^3$  were significantly higher than those slicing into  $2 \times 1 \times 1 \text{ mm}^3$ (Lu et al., 2014). In the domestic cat, ovarian cortical tissues were sliced into  $1 \times 1 \times 1$ 0.2 mm<sup>3</sup> before cryopreservation and obtained 47% of normal follicles after thawing (Mouttham and Comizzoli, 2017). Another factor of degeneration was our vitrification tissues used sucrose as a cryoprotective agent and the time of incubation was 10 min. The diffusion rates of CPAs in tissue depend on molecular weight (Sharma et al., 2007). Sucrose diffusion rate was reported that it predominantly found in the outer regions of the tissue and partially penetrated into the tissues volume 150 mm<sup>3</sup> within 30 min (Vasquez-Rivera et al., 2018). Thus, the degeneration of our vitrified-warmed tissues probably due to inappropriate size and CPA incubation time. The small amounts of normal follicles obtained in this study may associated with these two degeneration factors. The appropriate tissue size and time of CPA incubation should be concerned for improve the post-thawed quality.

To the best of our knowledge, there is no review of tiger isolated follicle culture. Our present study is the first report of tiger antral follicle culture from the vitrified-warmed ovarian tissue after long term storage. The retrieval of germinal vesicle stage oocytes is the major finding of our experiment and is valuable because it confirmed that the tiger ovarian tissues are able to restore their viability after longtime storage in liquid nitrogen. The tiger antral follicles responded to eCG similar to the domestic cat (Chansaenroj et al., 2019). The follicle culture with 0.05 IU/mL eCG tended to stimulate antral follicle growth after culture for 3 days (P = 0.07). In this present study, the actual oocyte size could not measure because the large volume of antral cavity. Thus, the weak point of this study was unknown initial oocyte diameter. However, the oocytes were evaluated at the end of culture. The culture effect on the oocyte was more pronounced when eCG was treated in the culture medium compared to control. The culture medium without eCG had detrimental effect on oocyte recovery. Since the antral follicle was gonadotropin dependent stage (Craig et al., 2007), the folliculogenesis was stimulated by eCG. Previous study suggested that the presence of eCG suppressed granulosa cell apoptosis and follicular atresia of antral follicle (Li et al., 1998). Although the number of oocyte recovery was not different between two groups, the percentage of oocyte recovery in eCG group was higher than control group.

All recovery oocyte diameters were approximately 140  $\mu$ m which were larger than normal size of the oocyte obtained from antral follicles (120  $\mu$ m) of the domestic cat (Izumi et al., 2012). Our finding suggested that the fully-grown oocyte of the tiger was slightly larger than the domestic cat. In addition, these oocytes obtained from the cultured follicles can further developed if performed the *in vitro* maturation. Since the relation between oocyte diameter and meiotic competence of the domestic cat has been reported (Otoi et al., 2001). The final growth of the oocytes to their full size was
essential for their developmental competence after *in vitro* maturation and fertilization (Pavlok et al., 1992).

In conclusion, vitrification technique was suitable for ovarian cryopreservation in felids species. However, the tissue size and thickness including with the incubation time should be concerned because these factors influenced to the quality of thawing tissue. The number of normal follicles decreased in the damaged frozen thawed tissue. In this study, vitrified-warmed tiger ovarian tissues provided some antral follicles. The recovery antral follicles were able to grow and produce normal oocytes in a threedimensional alginate hydrogel culture system supplementation with eCG in the culture medium. However, further study of meiotic resumption and *in vitro* fertilization should be performed.



## Chapter IV

## Requirements of insulin-like growth factor-I and stem cell factor for cat

# follicles cultured in a fibrin-alginate three-dimensional system

## 4.1 Abstract

Insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and stem cell factor (SCF) play roles in supporting proliferation, differentiation and survival of the ovarian follicle. Here, we examined the influence of these two factors on the development of varying stages cat follicle and expressions of genes regulating follicle and oocyte growth and steroidogenesis. Two-layered secondary follicles (two-layered SF), multi-layered secondary follicles (multi-layered SF) and early antral follicles (early AF) were mechanically isolated from twelve cats, encapsulated in a fibrin-alginate hydrogel. The encapsulated follicles were in Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) without growth factor supplementation (Control) or with 1 ng/mL IGF-I (IGF-I), 50 ng/mL SCF (SCF50), 100 ng/mL SCF (SCF100), 1 ng/mL IGF-I + 50 ng/mL SCF (IGF-SCF50) or 1 ng/mL IGF-I + 100 ng/mL SCF (IGF-SCF100) for 18 d, Relative growth of follicles and oocytes were assessed every 3 days. At the end of the culture period, morphology of follicles in all developmental stages was evaluated and mRNA expression of FSHR, LHCGR, GDF9, BMP15, CYP17A1, CYP19A1 and STAR) in multi-layered SF and early AF were determined by real-time PCR. The results showed that growth factors supplementations did not affect two-layered SF and multi-layered SF growth, whereas SCF100 supported (P < 0.05) growth of early AF throughout the culture period. However, oocyte growth was varied among stages of follicle development. In the twolayered SF, IGF-I failed to maintain oocyte size after culture for 12 days. Oocytes enclosed within multi-layer SF cultured on the presence of growth factors were able to sustain their initial size whereas those in the Control group decreased the diameter as *in vitro* culture progressed. However, the present or absence of growth factor showed no effect to the oocyte of early AF. SCF50 stimulated antral cavity formation and genes regulating follicle and oocyte growth and steroidogenesis in multi-layered SF. IGF-SCF50 was the best supplementation for early AF because it upregulated *FSHR*, *GDF9* and steroidogenic genes. In conclusion, SCF is important for folliculogenesis in the multi-layered SF and early AF stages.

## 4.2 Introduction

Ovarian folliculogenesis is a dynamic biological process that involves the activation of primordial follicles and the transition of this primitive stage into primary, secondary and advanced antral follicles containing a developmentally competent oocyte (El-Hayek and Clarke, 2016; Shah et al., 2018). The ability to grow early stage follicles to the advanced antral stage would be valuable for preserving the fertility of women as well as rescuing genomes of genetically valuable animals. Live offspring have been produced from oocytes recovered from *in vitro* grown mouse follicles (Eppig and O'Brien, 1996; Xu et al., 2006a; Higuchi et al., 2015). However, such accomplishment has not been demonstrated in other large mammalian species including the human (Shea et al., 2014; Yin et al., 2016), sheep (Kamalamma et al., 2016; Lunardi et al., 2017), cow (Gutierrez et al., 2000; Bus et al., 2018), goat (Celestino et al., 2009; Brito et al., 2012; Silva et al., 2017; Ferreira et al., 2018), macaque (Xu et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2015), baboon (Fortune et al., 1998; Xu et al., 2011), dog (Songsasen et al., 2011; Fujihara et al., 2012; Nagashima et al., 2018) and cat (Fujihara et al., 2012; Alves et al., 2017; Thongkittidilok et al., 2018; Chansaenroj et al., 2019).

Several studies have shown that follicular growth and survival depend on the presence of gonadotropins and variety of factors that are locally produced in the ovary (Silva et al., 2004; Demeestere et al., 2005; Zhou and Zhang, 2005) . For the cat, studies have examined the impact of endocrine, including follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) (Jewgenow and Pitra, 1993), equine chorionic gonadotropin (Chansaenroj et al., 2019) and insulin (Thongkittidilok et al., 2018) as well as paracrine factors, such as insulin growth factor-I (IGF-I) and epidermal growth factor (Alves et al., 2017) on *in vitro* growth and survival of isolated follicles. Although these studies have shown that such treated follicles increase in size, resident oocytes have poor developmental competence (Songsasen et al., 2012; Alves et al., 2017; Chansaenroj et al., 2019). Therefore, there still are needs to establish an improved *in vitro* culture system that supports growth and maturation of immature cat follicles as a model for rescuing valuable genetic of wild felids.

Among paracrine factors studied to-date, IGF-I has been shown to regulate ovarian folliculogenesis by stimulating the proliferation and steroidogenesis of granulosa cells *in vitro* (Guthrie et al., 1998). In the mouse, IGF-I works synergistically with follicle stimulating hormone and stimulates *in vitro* growth of preantral follicles (Liu et al., 1998). IGF-I also increases bovine (Itoh et al., 2002) and caprine (Zhou and Zhang, 2005) preantral follicle and oocyte diameters during *in vitro* culture. Moreover, IGF-I increases granulosa cell proliferation, promotes follicular antrum formation and decreases apoptosis in porcine preantral follicles *in vitro* (Mao et al., 2004). In the cat, IGF-I supplementation *in vitro* increases preantral follicle diameter, granulosa cell viability and decreases degeneration rate (Alves et al., 2017). However, the effect of this growth factor on the development of antral follicles have not been demonstrated.

In addition to IGF-I, SCF has been shown to play important roles in mammalian

oogenesis and folliculogenesis (Parrott and Skinner, 1997; Reynaud et al., 2000; Ronnstrand, 2004). SCF regulates cell survival, proliferation, differentiation and migration (Ronnstrand, 2004). The signaling pathways activated by the SCF/c-KIT system involve phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathways (Cardoso et al., 2014). Parrott and Skinner (1999) reported that the activation of primordial follicles is promoted by SCF during ovarian organ culture (Parrott and Skinner, 1999). For the preantral follicle, supplementation of SCF in combination with IGF-I promoted the production of mature oocytes in the mouse (Jee et al., 2012). In the early antral stage, SCF promotes theca cell recruitment, and thus, contributing to the regulation of androgen production in the mouse, pig and cow (Parrott and Skinner, 1997; Reynaud et al., 2000; Brankin et al., 2003). SCF also upregulates mRNA and protein expression of *STAR* and P450 aromatase in mice (Jin et al., 2005). In the cat, SCF promotes *in vitro* activation of primordial follicles enclosed within the ovarian cortex by upregulating c-kit mRNA expression and AKT phosphorylation (Thuwanut et al., 2017).

The objectives of the present study were to investigate (1) the influence of IGF-I, SCF and synergistic effects of IGF-I and SCF on cat secondary and early antral follicles development *in vitro*; (2) antrum formation rate of the multi-layered SF; (3) mRNA expression level of gonadotropin receptor genes (*FSHR* and *LHCGR*), oocyte ligands (*GDF9* and *BMP15*) and steroidogenic enzyme activity (*CYP17A1*, *CYP19A1* and *STAR*).

Because there has been evidence of differing responses to growth factor stimulation among varying stages of follicle development (Cook-Andersen et al., 2016; Cadenas et al., 2017), we also investigated the effect of developmental stages on the responses of follicle to growth factors supplementations. We hypothesized that IGF-I, SCF and the combination of IGF-I and SCF (1) promote follicular growth and survival in cat follicles; (2) support antral cavity formation in the multi-layered secondary SF. (3) upregulate the folliculogenesis related genes.

### 4.3 Materials and Methods

### 4.3.1 Chemicals

Unless noted otherwise, the chemicals used in the present study were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA.

## 4.3.2 Source of ovaries

Ovaries were collected from 12 cats (aged between 6 months to 3 years) underwent routine ovariohysterectomy at local veterinary clinics in Front Royal, Stephens City, and Harrisonburg, Virginia, USA. Ovaries were transported to the laboratory at 4°C in L-15 medium supplemented with 3 mg/mL penicillin G sodium, and 3 mg/mL streptomycin sulfate within 6 h after surgery.

4.3.3 Collection and in vitro culture of isolated follicles

At the laboratory, one ovary was dissected and pressed through a cell dissociation sieve-tissue grinder kit. The cell suspension obtained was passed through 100  $\mu$ m nylon sieves (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA, USA) which was then rinsed with 10 mL of Maintenance medium (Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) containing 3 mg/mL BSA, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 IU/mL penicillin G sodium and 10 mg/mL streptomycin sulfate and 20 mM Hepes) to recover two-layered SF (< 150  $\mu$ m; n = 120) and multi-layered SF (150 to 300  $\mu$ m; n = 120). The remaining ovary was carefully sliced into cortical strips using a scalpel blade and then kept in the maintenance medium. Early AF (> 300-500  $\mu$ m; n = 120) were isolated from the cortical strips using 25G gauge needles. Isolated follicles were individually-encapsulated in a bead with

31.25 mg/mL fibrinogen and 0.5% (w/v) alginate (FMC BioPolymers, Philadelphia, PA) according to methods described by Shikanov (Shikanov et al., 2009). Briefly, follicles in fibrinogen-alginate (3  $\mu$ L) were pipetted into 100 U/mL thrombin in Tris BuPH with 40 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Alginate crosslinks in the presence of a divalent cation, such as calcium (West et al., 2007), and fibrinogen polymerize into fibrin when thrombin activates factor XIIIa (Shikanov et al., 2009). Beads then were washed three times in Minimum Essential Medium containing 3 mg/mL BSA, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 ng/mL activin, 10 µg/mL insulin, 1.9 µg/mL transferrin, 5 µg/mL selenium, 10 IU/mL penicillin G sodium and 10 mg/mL streptomycin sulfate and 0.05 IU/mL eCG, hereafter called "Control medium". The encapsulated follicles were allocated into six groups: 1) Control (no growth factor supplementation), control medium supplemented with 2) 1 ng/mL IGF-I (IGF-I), 3) 50 ng/mL SCF (SCF50), 4) 100 ng/mL SCF (SCF100), 5) 1 ng/mL IGF-I + 50 ng/mL SCF (IGF-SCF50) and 6) 1 ng/mL IGF-I + 100 ng/mL SCF (IGF-SCF100). Two to three follicles of the same developmental stage were cultured in 500 µL of respective culture medium and incubated for 18 d at 38.5°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humidified air. Half volume of the culture medium was changed every 3 d throughout the study. This study consisted of eight replications.

#### 4.3.4 Follicle and oocyte assessment

Follicle and oocyte diameter were assessed under an inverted microscope (Leica LEITZ DM IL; Leica Germany). Each follicle was sized from the outer layer of somatic cells, with the measurements including the widest diameter and perpendicular width to the initial assessment. The mean of these two metrics was calculated and reported as diameter (Thongkittidilok et al., 2018) The mean diameters of each follicle and oocyte on Days 0, 3, 6, 9, 12, 15 and 18 were recorded. The formation of antral cavity

in the multi-layered SF was examined every 3 d. Follicular atresia was recognized if a follicle decreased significantly in diameter over several culture days, contained a degenerate oocyte, or basement membrane disruption. Follicle survival was determined at the end of the culture period.

### 4.3.5 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)

To examine mRNA expression in multi-layered SF and early AF cultured for 18 days under different culture conditions, total RNA was extracted from cat follicles using absolutely RNA nanoprep kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol. DNA contamination was treated by Rapid Out DNA removal kit (Thermo-Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). The quantity of RNA was measured spectrophotometer (NanoDrop One, using а Thermo-Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). mRNA converted to complementary DNA (cDNA) by using a Transcriptor High Fidelity cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) with the same amount of mRNA (2 ng from each sample), and stored at -20° C until quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) analysis. A fluorescence probe for qPCR was SyBr Green Mastermix (FastStart Essential DNA Green Master, Roche, Mannheim, Germany). All primer sequences used in the present study are shown in Table 6 (in Chapter II). Each PCR reaction consisted of 2  $\mu$ L DNA and 18  $\mu$ L of a mixture (10  $\mu$ L of Fast Start Essential DNA green master (Roche, Basel, Switzerland), 1 µL each of 10 mM for forward and reverse primers and 6 µL of nuclease-free water). qPCR reactions were performed in duplicate using Light Cycler® 96 (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Each amplification reaction consisted of the pre-incubation period (95 °C for 10 min), 45 cycles of three steps amplification (95 °C for 30 s, specific annealing temperature of primers of interest for 10 s and 72 °C for 10 s) and melting step (65 °C for 30 s). The negative control without cDNA was run together with samples in every amplification. Primer efficiency of each gene calculated by using five serial dilutions of DNA. The Ct value of each gene was normalized against the Ct of beta-actin which was shown to be more stable than succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A (*SDHA*) using Best Keeper software evaluation. The delta delta Ct ( $\Delta\Delta$ Ct) including primer efficiency was used to calculate fold changes of a given gene in experimental groups normalize to the control as described by Pfaffl (Pfaffl, 2001).

Fold change =  $(1 + \text{ primer efficiency})^{-(\Delta\Delta Ct)}$  (Rao et al., 2013)

4.3.6 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SAS 9.0 to perform statistical analysis. Normal distribution and equal variances were tested by Shapiro test and Bartlett's test, respectively. Follicles and oocytes growth on Days 3, 6, 9, 12, 15 and 18 were presented as relative diameter to the initial diameter (Day 0). Kruskal-Wallis test following by Duncan's multiple range test were used to evaluate the differences of mean relative growth of the follicles and oocytes in each developmental stage among 3, 6, 9, 12, 15 and 18 days. The descriptive statistical analysis was used to calculate the percentage of antral formation and follicular survival on Day 18 of culture. Chi-square test with p value adjusted for multiple testing with Bonferroni test was used to analyze the differences of survival rate among treatments in each stage. The  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct of qPCR expression data from each treatment were analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test following by pairwise comparisons using Tukey and Kramer (Nemenyi) test. Differences were considered significant when P < 0.05.

### 4.4 Results

4.4.1 Follicle and oocyte growth

Different developmental stages of the follicles showed varying growth rate and gene expressions responses to growth factor supplementation in fibrin-alginate threedimensional culture system. With one exception, cat follicles exhibited modest growth (10%) during the 18 days culture period. However, early AF cultured with SCF100 displayed 20% growth after 18 days of *in vitro* culture.

When IGF, SCF or their combination was added to the culture medium, no differences were observed in the growth of the secondary follicle (P > 0.05) (Fig. 4A, 4B). A positive effect on follicle growth was observed when the early AF were culture in the presence of SCF. Specifically, SCF50 slightly increased follicle growth until Day 9 of culture, while SCF100 promoted follicle growth throughout the culture period (P < 0.05) (Fig. 4C) However, there were no significant differences in relative growth among treatments (P > 0.05).

Supplementing the culture medium with IGF-I alone gradually decreased the relative growth of oocytes within two-layer SF during the first 15 days of *in vitro* culture (P < 0.05) (Fig. 5A). However, oocytes enclosed within multi-layer SF cultured on the presence of growth factors were able to sustain their initial size whereas those in the Control group decreased the diameter as *in vitro* culture progressed (Fig. 5B). Growth factors also had no effect on the oocyte of early AF (P > 0.05) (Fig. 5C).

### 4.4.2 Antral formation

Antral cavity formation was observed in multi-layered SF. The first detection of antrum was found on Day 3 in the medium supplemented with SCF100 and IGF-SCF50. The antral cavity of multi-layered SF incubated with IGF-I, SCF50 and IGF-SCF100 groups was found on Day 6. The last antral cavity appeared on Day 12 in control group. The highest rate of total antral formation was observed in SCF50 group (50%) (Fig. 6).







m

74





same treatment.

75









77

В



days. Value with different superscripts (A, B) differ significantly (P < 0.05) among treatments in the same day of culture.

78



Figure 6. The percentage of multi-layered SF antral formation classify by treatment.

4.4.3 Survival rate

The follicle survival rate of two-layered SF stage decreased significantly (P < 0.05) in IGF-SCF100 treated group compared to the other groups. However, there were no significant differences in the survival rate (80%) among treatments in multi-layered SF and early AF stage. (P > 0.05).

4.4.4 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)

SCF50 upregulated gonadotropin receptors (*FSHR* and *LHCGR*), oocyte derived growth factors (*GDF9* and *BMP15*) and steroidogenic genes (*CYP17A1, CYP19A1* and *STAR*) in multi-layered SF (Fig 7A), whereas SCF100 stimulated steroidogenic gene expressions (Fig 7A). IGF-SCF50 upregulated *FSHR, BMP15, CYP17A1* and *CYP19A1* (Fig 7A).

Early AF cultured on the presence of growth factors upregulated *FSHR* expression (Fig 7B). The other genes upregulated by SCF50 and IGF-SCF50. SCF50 upregulated *CYP19A1* and *STAR* transcripts (Fig 7B). IGF-SCF50 supplementation to early AF increased *FSHR*, *GDF9*, *CYP17A1*, *CYP19A1* and *STAR* (Fig 7B).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY







Figure 7. Gene expressions of A) Multi-layered SF and B) Early AF.



82

### 4.5 Discussion

In the present study, we examined the influence of two key growth factors, IGF-I and SCF, on *in vitro* development of isolated cat follicles. We discovered that SCF exerted beneficial effects on growth, antral cavity formation and mRNA expressions of the cat follicle.

SCF stimulated follicular growth of early AF and sustained oocyte size in all developmental stage. IGF-I did not exert beneficial effects on follicle and oocyte growth in all developmental stages. This growth factor also negatively influenced the viability (decreased diameter) of the enclosed oocyte, especially in the two-layered SF. Moreover, there was no synergistic effect between SCF and IGF-I in promoting *in vitro* development of isolated cat follicles.

IGF-I plays autocrine and paracrine roles in early follicular development and steroid production in many species (Sharma et al., 2010; Magalhaes-Padilha et al., 2012; Stubbs et al., 2013; Jimenez et al., 2016) including the cat (Alves et al., 2017). The effect of IGF-I in different species is still controversial. Some authors had reported no beneficial effects of IGF-I on *in vitro* follicle development (Brito et al., 2012). However, a previous report in the cat indicated that the presence of IGF-I and gonadotropin (FSH) in the culture medium stimulates secondary follicle growth (Jewgenow and Pitra, 1993). It has been demonstrated that the combination of IGF-I and EGF influences preantral follicle growth and granulosa cell proliferation. However, there was no effect on oocyte growth and antral cavity formation (Alves et al., 2017). In the present study, IGF-I supplementation did not enhance the growth of follicles at all developmental stages. Moreover, the diameter of oocytes recovered from IGF-I treatment decreased after 15 days of culture. In our preliminary study, we did not observe the different of

follicle diameter among 1, 10 and 100 ng/mL IGF-I after 18 day of culture. Thus, the 1 ng/mL IGF-I, the effective dose in human (Stubbs et al., 2013), was used in this present study. The unexpected outcomes of IGF-I may due to the ideal concentration of IGF-I was species-specific. The concentration of IGF-I (1 ng/mL) in our study may have been insufficient to promote cat two-layered SF growth. The effect of IGF-I on the two-layered SF in this present study is consistent to that reported in the goat. Adding IGF-I to the culture medium did not stimulate goat secondary follicle growth after culture for 6 days (Brito et al., 2012). The oocyte diameters in this present study were also sustained in their size until Day 12 of culture then gradually decrease in size. This evidence suggested that long term *in vitro* cat two-layered SF culture may associated with the progressive reduction of the oocytes. IGF-I alone was unable to maintain the oocyte size though 18 days. This may be due to IGF-I promoted follicle growth but may impaired the bi-directional communication between granulosa cells and oocyte (Russell et al., 2016).

The growth factors supplementation did not show satisfactory results in the present study. The multi-layered SF and the enclosed oocyte did not grow when supplement with IGF-I, SCF and their combination compared to previous studies (Lima et al., 2011; Magalhaes-Padilha et al., 2012). Although IGF-I, SCF and their combination do not promote the follicle and oocyte growth (Brito et al., 2012; Jee et al., 2012), they play important roles in maintaining the size of oocytes enclosed within multi-layered SF. In this study, growth factors supplementations had no effect on the survival rate. In contrast to our results, previous work showed positive effect of IGF-I and SCF on enhancing follicle survival (Sharma et al., 2009; Lima et al., 2011). The ideal concentration of IGF-I may be species-specific. The concentration of IGF-I (1 ng/mL) in

our study may have been insufficient to ensure the efficient removal of those undesirable factors that would maintain cat two-layered SF viability during in vitro culture. Indeed, some studies have suggested that increasing gonadotropin (FSH) dosage to the basic culture medium sequentially, i.e., in increasing concentrations, because as the follicles develop, the gonadotropin levels increase to meet the requirements of different follicular stages (Saraiva et al., 2011). Therefore, it is possible that optimal dosage of sequential eCG concentration presence in the basic medium may concern in order to promote follicle growth and survival *in vitro*. The antral cavity formation was observed in all groups. However, growth factors treated groups formed an antral cavity earlier than control group. Moreover, SCF50 group formed antral cavity at the highest rate (50%) compared to other treatments. This finding confirmed an earlier observation reported in the mouse which antrum formation was inhibited after received an antibody of SCF (Yoshida et al., 1997). Although IGF-SCF50 could stimulate FSHR, BMP15, CYP17A1 and CYP19A1, SCF50 upregulate all folliculogenesis related genes. Therefore, SCF50 may be the best choice for multi-layered SF supplementation. This present observation emphasized that folliculogenesis and steroidogenesis in the multi-layered SF required growth factors supplementation.

For the early AF, it has been reported that SCF is detected in granulosa cells isolated from antral follicles and partially found in theca cells (Silva et al., 2006). SCF is considered regulatory factors that stimulate oocyte growth via the interaction between granulosa cells and the oocyte. (Park et al., 2013). The effect of SCF supported early AF growth was also seen in this study. The higher concentration of SCF stimulated the growth of the follicle better than the lower concentration. However, SCF did not stimulate oocyte growth. This finding indicated that early AF may need more amount of SCF to promote follicle growth than secondary follicle because SCF has been shown to influence on the theca cell growth and differentiation (Parrott and Skinner, 1997). Nevertheless, the growth of the follicle may impair the communication between oocyte and granulosa cells. Thus, the oocyte growth was not occurred in this study. Although SCF50 upregulated *FSHR, CYP19A1* and *STAR*, the addition of IGF-SCF50 to a culture medium increased the transcript level of *FSHR, GDF9* and all steroidogenic genes (*CYP17A1, CYP19A1* and *STAR*). Therefore, IGF-SCF50 may be the best choice for early AF supplementation. These IGF-SCF50 stimulated mRNA expressions elucidated that granulosa cells, theca cells and the oocyte of early AF were proliferated, differentiated and still function. Although the mRNA expressions of the early AF were inconsistent with the relative growth, the mRNA expressions, which indicating proper development of the follicle and the oocyte, were more important than the increasing diameter. Therefore, we suggested that the IGF-SCF50 was appropriated for early AF supplementation in this study.

In conclusion, the growth factors supplementation has various beneficial effects to the follicles and oocytes. Thus, we proposed the applicable guideline of IGF-I and SCF supplementations for the multi-step follicle culture the in the domestic cat in Fig. 8.





After the follicle developing to the multi-layered SF stage, they need SCF50 for supporting growth and survival. Moreover, the addition of SCF50 promoted the antral cavity formation and upregulated the folliculogenesis related mRNA expressions. The multi-layered SF required 3 to 15 days (Average ~ 7.5 days) for antrum formation. Then, the multi-layered SF developed into the early AF stage. The IGF-SCF50 supplemented was crucial for ongoing growth of early AF and was also important for stimulating follicular function. However, further investigations on *in vitro* follicle culture requirements in order to improve oocyte quality are required.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

# Chapter V

## General discussion and conclusion

*In vivo* folliculogenesis has been investigated for more than forty years. There have been numerous attempts to induce estrus by mimicking gonadotropin hormone secretion patterns in felids (Swanson et al., 1996; Swanson et al., 1997). Nowadays eCG is commonly used in the domestic cat to treat infertility problems or manage breeding programs (Kutzler, 2007). However, these estrus induction protocols elucidated inconsistent results in wild felids-maintained *ex situ*. The success of hormonal estrus induction depends on timing (Howard et al., 1997) and ovarian-responses (Miller et al., 1990; Howard et al., 1992; Howard et al., 1997). Furthermore, the success rate of Al after estrus induction in felids is low which may be due to the failure of estrus induction associated with dissimilarity in ovarian sensitivity to exogenous gonadotropin treatment among different felid species (Donoghue et al., 1990; Barone et al., 1994; Donoghue et al., 1996). Therefore, the discovery of gonadotropin responsiveness of the domestic cat would provide the basic information for future studies in other endangered felids species.

Testing of the ovarian responsiveness in the wild animals is not possible due to the limited number of the populations. Therefore, the *in vitro* culture served as an alternative tool in this study.

Our findings showed that the responsiveness of domestic cat follicles to eCG varied upon the developmental stages (Chapter II). The domestic cat follicles responded to eCG when they reached the multi-layered SF stage. Moreover, a low dosage of eCG (0.05 IU/mL) promoted the growth of multi-layered SF and sustained oocyte viability possibly through *STAR*.

With the same concentration as treated in Chapter II, tiger antral follicles isolated from the vitrified-warmed ovarian tissue after long-term storage were cultured. The results showed that follicles were increased in size after 3 days of culture.

eCG increased oocyte recovery rate from incubated follicles compared to those cultured without gonadotropin supplementation probably due to eCG's ability to suppress granulosa cell apoptosis and follicular atresia of antral follicle (Li et al., 1998). Therefore, the follicle can maintain bi-directional communication between granulosa cells and oocyte (Russell et al., 2016) resulting in the normal folliculogenesis and oogenesis.

In this study (Chapter III), the oocytes in the antral follicles of the tiger were found larger than the domestic cats (141.8  $\pm$  0.9 µm vs 120 µm) (Izumi et al., 2012). All of the oocytes were remained in the germinal vesicle stage. Therefore, the oocytes from our study may resume meiosis if performed *in vitro* maturation. Since the relation between full size of the oocyte diameter and meiotic competence of the domestic cat has been reported (Otoi et al., 2001).

In chapter IV, it was apparent that there was stage-specific requirement of growth factor supplementation in supporting growth of follicles cultured in medium contained 0.05 IU/mL eCG. Growth factors supplementation did not show satisfactory results in the present study. IGF-I did not exert beneficial effects on follicle and oocyte growth in all developmental stages. In contrast, IGF-I reduced the viability of the enclosed oocytes, especially in the two-layered SF. Although IGF-I has been reported to have positive roles in early follicle development and steroid production (Sharma et al., 2010; Magalhaes-Padilha et al., 2012; Stubbs et al., 2013; Jimenez et al., 2016; Alves et al., 2017), some authors reported no beneficial effects of IGF-I supplement on

follicle development (Brito et al., 2012). In our study, the lower dosage of IGF-I and the longer duration of culture resulted in slightly growth of the follicle and also reducing oocyte diameter especially in two-layered SF may be due to the ideal concentration of IGF-I may be species-specific. The concentration of IGF-I (1 ng/mL) in our study may have been insufficient to ensure the efficient removal of those undesirable factors that would maintain cat two-layered SF viability during *in vitro* culture. In this present study, the multi-layered SF and the enclosed oocyte did not grow when supplement with IGF-I, SCF and their combination compared to previous studies (Lima et al., 2011; Magalhaes-Padilha et al., 2012). Although the follicle survival was enhanced when supplemented IGF-I and SCF (Sharma et al., 2009; Lima et al., 2011), they showed no effect to the survival rate compared to control in this present study.

In the present study, SCF at 50 ng/mL concentration also stimulated the mRNA expression of *FSHR, LHCGR, GDF9, BMP15, CYP17A1, CYP19A1* and *STAR* in the multi-layered SF, implying that folliculogenesis and steroidogenesis have occurred. The role of the SCF on antrum formation was emphasized an earlier observation reported in the mouse which antrum formation was inhibited after received an antibody of SCF (Yoshida et al., 1997).

For the early AF, the combination of 1 ng/mL IGF-I and 50 ng/mL SCF increased the transcription levels of *FSHR*, *GDF9* and steroidogenic genes (*CYP17A1*, *CYP19A1* and *STAR*) genes. These mRNA expressions demonstrated that the granulosa cells, theca cells and the oocyte of early AF were proliferated, differentiated and functioned.

In conclusion, eCG responsive stage in the domestic cat was at multi-layered SF onward with the concentration of 0.05 IU/mL being the most efficient. In this present

study, the tiger follicles responded to 0.05 IU/mL eCG. The growth factor supplementations to cat *in vitro* follicle culture illustrated the positive impact to the multi-layered SF and early AF of the domestic cat. The paracrine effect from SCF combined with eCG maintained follicle growth and survival and also promoted antral cavity formation of multi-layered SF. In contrast, the cat early AF required eCG, IGF-I and SCF for stimulate follicle growth and steroid production. However, further investigations on *in vitro* follicle culture requirements in order to improve oocyte quality are required. Finally, this study provides the information of gonadotropin (eCG) and growth factors regulations ovarian follicles in cat species, knowledge that is important to develop strategies to encourage *in vivo* and *in vitro* folliculogenesis.



#### REFERENCES

- Alves AE, Padilha-Nakaghi LC, Pires-Butler EA, Apparicio M, Silva N, Motheo TF, Vicente W and Luvoni GC 2017. Viability and growth of feline preantral follicles *in vitro* cultured with insulin growth factor and epidermal growth factor supplemented medium. Reprod Domest Anim. 52 Suppl 2: 93-97.
- Alves EA, Padilha L, Savi PA, Apparicio MF, Mostachio GQ, Motheo TF, Pires-Buttler EA, Vicente WR and Luvoni GC 2012. *In vitro* survival of follicles collected from domestic cats' ovaries at different stages of oestrous cycle and cultured with IGF-I. Reprod Domest Anim. 47 Suppl 6: 109-112.
- Amorim CA, Dolmans MM, David A, Jaeger J, Vanacker J, Camboni A, Donnez J and Van Langendonckt A 2012. Vitrification and xenografting of human ovarian tissue. Fertil Steril. 98(5): 1291-1298 e1291-1292.
- Amorim CA and Shikanov A 2016. The artificial ovary: current status and future perspectives. Future Oncol. 12(20): 2323-2332.
- Axner E and Linde Forsberg C 2007. Sperm morphology in the domestic cat, and its relation with fertility: a retrospective study. Reprod Domest Anim. 42(3): 282-291.
- Banks DH and Stabenfeldt G 1982. Luteinizing hormone release in the cat in response to coitus on consecutive days of estrus. Biol Reprod. 26(4): 603-611.

- Barone MA, Wildt DE, Byers AP, Roelke ME, Glass CM and Howard JG 1994. Gonadotrophin dose and timing of anaesthesia for laparoscopic artificial insemination in the puma (*Felis concolor*). J Reprod Fertil. 101(1): 103-108.
- Bogliolo L, Leoni G, Ledda S, Naitana S, Zedda M, Carluccio A and Pau S 2001. Intracytoplasmic sperm injection of *in vitro* matured oocytes of domestic cats with frozen-thawed epididymal spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 56(5): 955-967.
- Brankin V, Mitchell MR, Webb B and Hunter MG 2003. Paracrine effects of oocyte secreted factors and stem cell factor on porcine granulosa and theca cells *in vitro*. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 1: 55.
- Bristol-Gould S and Woodruff TK 2006. Folliculogenesis in the domestic cat (*Felis catus*). Theriogenology. 66(1): 5-13.
- Brito DCC, Domingues SFS, Rodrigues APR, Figueiredo JR, Santos RR and Pieczarka JC 2018. Vitrification of domestic cat (*Felis catus*) ovarian tissue: Effects of three different sugars. Cryobiology. 83: 97-99.
- Brito IR, Lima IM, Xu M, Shea LD, Woodruff TK and Figueiredo JR 2014. Three-dimensional systems for *in vitro* follicular culture: overview of alginate-based matrices. Reprod Fertil Dev. 26(7): 915-930.
- Brito IR, Saraiva MV, Araujo VR, Celestino JJ, Magalhaes-Padilha DM, Lima IM, Van den Hurk R, Figueiredo JR and Silva JR 2012. The effect of IGF-I and FSH on the *in vitro*

development of caprine secondary follicles and on the IGF-I, IGFR-I and FSHR mRNA levels. Res Vet Sci. 93(2): 729-732.

- Brito IR, Silva GM, Sales AD, Lobo CH, Rodrigues GQ, Sousa RF, Moura A, Calderon C, Bertolini M, Campello CC, Smitz J and Figueiredo JR 2016. Fibrin-alginate hydrogel supports steroidogenesis, *in vitro* maturation of oocytes and parthenotes production from caprine preantral follicles cultured in group. Reprod Domest Anim. 51(6): 997-1009.
- Brown JL 2011. Female reproductive cycles of wild female felids. Anim Reprod Sci. 124(3-4): 155-162.
- Brown JL, Wasser SK, Wildt DE and Graham LH 1994. Comparative aspects of steroid hormone metabolism and ovarian activity in felids, measured noninvasively in feces. Biol Reprod. 51(4): 776-786.
- Brown JL, Wildt DE, Wielebnowski N, Goodrowe KL, Graham LH, Wells S and Howard JG 1996. Reproductive activity in captive female cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*) assessed by faecal steroids. J Reprod Fertil. 106(2): 337-346.
- Buarpung S, Tharasanit T, Comizzoli P and Techakumphu M 2013. Feline spermatozoa from fresh and cryopreserved testicular tissues have comparable ability to fertilize matured oocytes and sustain the embryo development after intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Theriogenology. 79(1): 149-158.

- Bus A, van Hoeck V, Langbeen A, Leroy J and Bols PEJ 2018. Effects of vitrification on the viability of alginate encapsulated isolated bovine pre-antral follicles. J Assist Reprod Genet. 35(7): 1187-1199.
- Cadenas J, Leiva-Revilla J, Vieira LA, Apolloni LB, Aguiar FLN, Alves BG, Lobo CH, Rodrigues APR, Apgar GA, Smitz J, Figueiredo JR and Maside C 2017. Caprine ovarian follicle requirements differ between preantral and early antral stages after IVC in medium supplemented with GH and VEGF alone or in combination. Theriogenology. 87: 321-332.
- Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Correia S, Vaz CV and Socorro S 2014. The SCF/c-KIT system in the male: Survival strategies in fertility and cancer. Mol Reprod Dev. 81(12): 1064-1079.
- Carlsson IB, Laitinen MP, Scott JE, Louhio H, Velentzis L, Tuuri T, Aaltonen J, Ritvos O, Winston RM and Hovatta O 2006. Kit ligand and c-Kit are expressed during early human ovarian follicular development and their interaction is required for the survival of follicles in long-term culture. Reproduction. 131(4): 641-649.
- Carrijo OA, Jr., Marinho AP, Campos AA, Amorim CA, Bao SN and Lucci CM 2010. Morphometry, estimation and ultrastructure of ovarian preantral follicle population in queens. Cells Tissues Organs. 191(2): 152-160.
- Celestino JJ, Bruno JB, Lima-Verde IB, Matos MH, Saraiva MV, Chaves RN, Martins FS, Lima LF, Name KP, Campello CC, Silva JR, Bao SN and Figueiredo JR 2009. Recombinant

epidermal growth factor maintains follicular ultrastructure and promotes the transition to primary follicles in caprine ovarian tissue cultured *in vitro*. Reprod Sci. 16(3): 239-246.

- Chagas e Silva JN, Leitao RM, Lapao NE, da Cunha MB, da Cunha TP, da Silva JP and Paisana FC 2000. Birth of Siberian tiger (*Panthera tigris altaica*) cubs after transvaginal artificial insemination. J Zoo Wildl Med. 31(4): 566-569.
- Chansaenroj A, Songsasen N and Chatdarong K 2019. Equine chorionic gonadotropin induces *in vitro* follicular growth from the multi-layered secondary developmental stage in cats. Theriogenology. 123: 116-122.
- Chatdarong K, Lohachit C, Kiartmanakul S, Axner E and Forsberg CL 2006. Cervical patency during non-ovulatory and ovulatory estrus cycles in domestic cats. Theriogenology. 66(4): 804-810.
- Chiti MC, Dolmans MM, Hobeika M, Cernogoraz A, Donnez J and Amorim CA 2017. A modified and tailored human follicle isolation procedure improves follicle recovery and survival. J Ovarian Res. 10(1): 71.
- Chiti MC, Dolmans MM, Orellana R, Soares M, Paulini F, Donnez J and Amorim CA 2016. Influence of follicle stage on artificial ovary outcome using fibrin as a matrix. Hum Reprod. 31(2): 427-435.
- Comizzoli P, Wildt DE and Pukazhenthi BS 2006. *In vitro* development of domestic cat embryos following intra-cytoplasmic sperm injection with testicular spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 66(6-7): 1659-1663.
- Concannon P, Hodgson B and Lein D 1980. Reflex LH release in estrous cats following single and multiple copulations. Biol Reprod. 23(1): 111-117.
- Cook-Andersen H, Curnow KJ, Su HI, Chang RJ and Shimasaki S 2016. Growth and differentiation factor 9 promotes oocyte growth at the primary but not the early secondary stage in three-dimensional follicle culture. J Assist Reprod Genet. 33(8): 1067-1077.
- Coticchio G, Dal Canto M, Mignini Renzini M, Guglielmo MC, Brambillasca F, Turchi D, Novara PV and Fadini R 2015. Oocyte maturation: gamete-somatic cells interactions, meiotic resumption, cytoskeletal dynamics and cytoplasmic reorganization. Hum Reprod Update. 21(4): 427-454.
- Craig J, Orisaka M, Wang H, Orisaka S, Thompson W, Zhu C, Kotsuji F and Tsang BK 2007.
   Gonadotropin and intra-ovarian signals regulating follicle development and atresia: the delicate balance between life and death. Front Biosci. 12: 3628-3639.
   Crichton EG, Bedows E, Miller-Lindholm AK, Baldwin DM, Armstrong DL, Graham LH, Ford

JJ, Gjorret JO, Hyttel P, Pope CE, Vajta G and Loskutoff NM 2003. Efficacy of porcine gonadotropins for repeated stimulation of ovarian activity for oocyte

retrieval and *in vitro* embryo production and cryopreservation in Siberian tigers (*Panthera tigris altaica*). Biol Reprod. 68(1): 105-113.

- da Silva TF, da Silva LD, Uchoa DC, Monteiro CL and de Aguiar Thomaz L 2006. Sexual characteristics of domestic queens kept in a natural equatorial photoperiod. Theriogenology. 66(6-7): 1476-1481.
- Daya S and Gunby J 2000. Recombinant versus urinary follicle stimulating hormone for ovarian stimulation in assisted reproduction cycles. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. (4): CD002810.
- De Los Reyes M, Palomino J, Parraguez VH and Ramirez F 2017. Analysis of LH receptor in canine ovarian follicles throughout the estrous cycle. Theriogenology. 93: 71-77.
- DeCaluwe HB, Wielebnowski NC, Howard J, Pelican KM and Ottinger MA 2016. Characterization of multiple pathways modulating aggression in the male clouded leopard (*Neofelis nebulosa*). Zoo Biol. 35(6): 474-486.

Delaski KM and Gamble KC 2015. Evaluation of Thyroid Hormones and as Influenced by

Treatment with Deslorelin in Pallas' Cats (Otocolobus (Felis) Manul). J Zoo Wildl

Med. 46(4): 675-681.

Demeestere I, Centner J, Gervy C, Englert Y and Delbaere A 2005. Impact of various endocrine and paracrine factors on *in vitro* culture of preantral follicles in rodents. Reproduction. 130(2): 147-156.

- Desai N, Abdelhafez F, Calabro A and Falcone T 2012. Three dimensional culture of fresh and vitrified mouse pre-antral follicles in a hyaluronan-based hydrogel: a preliminary investigation of a novel biomaterial for *in vitro* follicle maturation. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 10(1): 29.
- Dolmans MM 2018. Recent advances in fertility preservation and counseling for female cancer patients. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 18(2): 115-120.
- Dolmans MM, Jadoul P, Gilliaux S, Amorim CA, Luyckx V, Squifflet J, Donnez J and Van Langendonckt A 2013. A review of 15 years of ovarian tissue bank activities. J Assist Reprod Genet. 30(3): 305-314.
- Donoghue AM, Byers AP, Johnston LA, Armstrong DL and Wildt DE 1996. Timing of ovulation after gonadotrophin induction and its importance to successful intrauterine insemination in the tiger (*Panthera tigris*). J Reprod Fertil. 107(1): 53-58.

## จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

- Donoghue AM, Johnston LA, Seal US, Armstrong DL, Tilson RL, Wolf P, Petrini K, Simmons LG, Gross T and Wildt DE 1990. *In vitro* fertilization and embryo development *in vitro* and *in vivo* in the tiger (*Panthera tigris*). Biol Reprod. 43(5): 733-744.
- Downs SM 1995. The influence of glucose, cumulus cells, and metabolic coupling on ATP levels and meiotic control in the isolated mouse oocyte. Dev Biol. 167(2): 502-512.

- Dresser BL, Gelwicks EJ, Wachs KB and Keller GL 1988. First successful transfer of cryopreserved feline (*Felis catus*) embryos resulting in live offspring. J Exp Zool. 246(2): 180-186.
- Driancourt MA, Reynaud K, Cortvrindt R and Smitz J 2000. Roles of KIT and KIT LIGAND in ovarian function. Rev Reprod. 5(3): 143-152.
- Dumesic DA, Meldrum DR, Katz-Jaffe MG, Krisher RL and Schoolcraft WB 2015. Oocyte environment: follicular fluid and cumulus cells are critical for oocyte health. Fertil Steril. 103(2): 303-316.
- El-Hayek S and Clarke HJ 2016. Control of Oocyte Growth and Development by Intercellular Communication Within the Follicular Niche. Results Probl Cell Differ. 58: 191-224.
- Emori C and Sugiura K 2014. Role of oocyte-derived paracrine factors in follicular development. Anim Sci J. 85(6): 627-633.

Eppig JJ 1991. Maintenance of meiotic arrest and the induction of oocyte maturation in mouse oocyte-granulosa cell complexes developed *in vitro* from preantral follicles. Biol Reprod. 45(6): 824-830.

Eppig JJ 2001. Oocyte control of ovarian follicular development and function in mammals. Reproduction. 122(6): 829-838.

- Eppig JJ, Chesnel F, Hirao Y, O'Brien MJ, Pendola FL, Watanabe S and Wigglesworth K 1997. Oocyte control of granulosa cell development: how and why. Hum Reprod. 12(11 Suppl): 127-132.
- Eppig JJ, O'Brien M and Wigglesworth K 1996. Mammalian oocyte growth and development *in vitro*. Mol Reprod Dev. 44(2): 260-273.
- Eppig JJ and O'Brien MJ 1996. Development *in vitro* of mouse oocytes from primordial follicles. Biol Reprod. 54(1): 197-207.
- Eppig JJ, O'Brien MJ, Pendola FL and Watanabe S 1998. Factors affecting the developmental competence of mouse oocytes grown *in vitro*: follicle-stimulating hormone and insulin. Biol Reprod. 59(6): 1445-1453.
- Feldman EC and Nelson RW. 1996. Canine and feline endocrinology and reproduction. 2nd ed. In: W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia. xi, 785 p.
- Ferreira ACA, Cadenas J, Sa NAR, Correia HHV, Guerreiro DD, Lobo CH, Alves BG, Maside C, Gastal EL, Rodrigues APR and Figueiredo JR 2018. *In vitro* culture of isolated preantral and antral follicles of goats using human recombinant FSH: Concentration-dependent and stage-specific effect. Anim Reprod Sci. 196: 120-129.
- Filatov M, Khramova Y, Parshina E, Bagaeva T and Semenova M 2017. Influence of gonadotropins on ovarian follicle growth and development *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Zygote. 25(3): 235-243.

- Filatov MA, Khramova YV and Semenova ML 2015. *In Vitro* Mouse Ovarian Follicle Growth and Maturation in Alginate Hydrogel: Current State of the Art. Acta Naturae. 7(2): 48-56.
- Fortune JE 2003. The early stages of follicular development: activation of primordial follicles and growth of preantral follicles. Anim Reprod Sci. 78(3-4): 135-163.
- Fortune JE, Kito S, Wandji SA and Srsen V 1998. Activation of bovine and baboon primordial follicles *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 49(2): 441-449.
- Fujihara M, Comizzoli P, Keefer CL, Wildt DE and Songsasen N 2014. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) sustains *in vitro* primordial follicle viability by enhancing stromal cell proliferation via MAPK and PI3K pathways in the prepubertal, but not adult, cat ovary. Biol Reprod. 90(4): 86.
- Fujihara M, Comizzoli P, Wildt DE and Songsasen N 2012. Cat and dog primordial follicles enclosed in ovarian cortex sustain viability after *in vitro* culture on agarose gel in a protein-free medium. Reprod Domest Anim. 47 Suppl 6: 102-108.

Gilchrist RB, Lane M and Thompson JG 2008. Oocyte-secreted factors: regulators of

cumulus cell function and oocyte quality. Hum Reprod Update. 14(2): 159-177.

Gilchrist RB, Ritter LJ and Armstrong DT 2004. Oocyte-somatic cell interactions during

follicle development in mammals. Anim Reprod Sci. 82-83: 431-446.

- Gilchrist RB, Ritter LJ, Myllymaa S, Kaivo-Oja N, Dragovic RA, Hickey TE, Ritvos O and Mottershead DG 2006. Molecular basis of oocyte-paracrine signalling that promotes granulosa cell proliferation. J Cell Sci. 119(Pt 18): 3811-3821.
- Gjorret JO, Crichton EG, Loskutoff NM, Armstrong DL and Hyttel P 2002. Ultrastructure of oocyte maturation, fertilization, and early embryo development *in vitro* in the Siberian tiger (*Panthera tigris altaica*). Mol Reprod Dev. 63(1): 79-88.
- Goodrich JM 2010. Human-tiger conflict: a review and call for comprehensive plans. Integr

Zool. 5(4): 300-312.

- Goodrowe KL and Wildt DE 1987. Ovarian response to human chorionic gonadotropin or gonadotropin releasing hormone in cats in natural or induced estrus. Theriogenology. 27(5): 811-817.
- Gosden RG and Telfer E 1987. Numbers of follicles and oocytes in mammalian ovaries and their allometric relationships. Journal of Zoology. 211(1): 169-175.
- Gougeon A 2010. Human ovarian follicular development: From activation of resting follicles to preovulatory maturation. Annls Endocrinol. 71: 132-143.
- Graham LH, Byers AP, Armstrong DL, Loskutoff NM, Swanson WF, Wildt DE and Brown JL 2006. Natural and gonadotropin-induced ovarian activity in tigers (*Panthera tigris*) assessed by fecal steroid analyses. Gen Comp Endocrinol. 147(3): 362-370.

- Graham LH, Swanson WF and Brown JL 2000. Chorionic gonadotropin administration in domestic cats causes an abnormal endocrine environment that disrupts oviductal embryo transport. Theriogenology. 54(7): 1117-1131.
- Green LJ and Shikanov A 2016. *In vitro* culture methods of preantral follicles. Theriogenology. 86(1): 229-238.
- Griffin J, Emery BR, Huang I, Peterson CM and Carrell DT 2006. Compartive analysis of follicle morphology and oocyte diameter in four mammalian species (mouse, hamster, pig and human). J Exp Clin Assisted Reprod. 3: 2.
- Gupta PS and Nandi S 2012. Isolation and culture of preantral follicles for retrieving oocytes for the embryo production: present status in domestic animals. Reprod Domest Anim. 47(3): 513-519.
- Guthrie HD, Garrett WM and Cooper BS 1998. Follicle-stimulating hormone and insulinlike growth factor-I attenuate apoptosis in cultured porcine granulosa cells. Biol Reprod. 58(2): 390-396.
- Gutierrez CG, Ralph JH, Telfer EE, Wilmut I and Webb R 2000. Growth and antrum formation of bovine preantral follicles in long-term culture *in vitro*. Biol Reprod. 62(5): 1322-1328.
- Hardy K, Fenwick M, Mora J, Laird M, Thomson K and Franks S 2017. Onset and Heterogeneity of Responsiveness to FSH in Mouse Preantral Follicles in Culture. Endocrinology. 158(1): 134-147.

- Hattori K, Orisaka M, Fukuda S, Tajima K, Yamazaki Y, Mizutani T and Yoshida Y 2018. Luteinizing Hormone Facilitates Antral Follicular Maturation and Survival via Thecal Paracrine Signaling in Cattle. Endocrinology. 159(6): 2337-2347.
- Heise M, Koepsel R, Russell AJ and McGee EA 2005. Calcium alginate microencapsulation of ovarian follicles impacts FSH delivery and follicle morphology. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 3: 47.
- Herrick JR, Campbell M, Levens G, Moore T, Benson K, D'Agostino J, West G, Okeson DM, Coke R, Portacio SC, Leiske K, Kreider C, Polumbo PJ and Swanson WF 2010. *In vitro* fertilization and sperm cryopreservation in the black-footed cat (*Felis nigripes*) and sand cat (*Felis margarita*). Biol Reprod. 82(3): 552-562.
- Higuchi CM, Maeda Y, Horiuchi T and Yamazaki Y 2015. A Simplified Method for Three-Dimensional (3-D) Ovarian Tissue Culture Yielding Oocytes Competent to Produce Full-Term Offspring in Mice. PLoS One. 10(11): e0143114.
- Hirao Y 2012. Oocyte growth *in vitro*: potential model for studies of oocyte-granulosa cell interactions. Reprod Med Biol. 11(1): 1-9.
- Hobbs RJ, Howard J, Wildt DE and Comizzoli P 2012. Absence of seasonal changes in FSHR gene expression in the cat cumulus-oocyte complex *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Reproduction. 144(1): 111-122.

- Howard JG, Barone MA, Donoghue AM and Wildt DE 1992. The effect of pre-ovulatory anaesthesia on ovulation in laparoscopically inseminated domestic cats. J Reprod Fertil. 96(1): 175-186.
- Howard JG, Donoghue AM, Johnston LA and Wildt DE 1993. Zona pellucida filtration of structurally abnormal spermatozoa and reduced fertilization in teratospermic cats. Biol Reprod. 49(1): 131-139.
- Howard JG, Roth TL, Byers AP, Swanson WF and Wildt DE 1997. Sensitivity to exogenous gonadotropins for ovulation induction and laparoscopic artificial insemination in the cheetah and clouded leopard. Biol Reprod. 56(4): 1059-1068.

Hurni H 1981. Daylength and breeding in the domestic cat. Lab Anim. 15(3): 229-233.

- Hutt KJ, McLaughlin EA and Holland MK 2006a. Kit ligand and c-Kit have diverse roles during mammalian oogenesis and folliculogenesis. Mol Hum Reprod. 12(2): 61-69.
  Hutt KJ, McLaughlin EA and Holland MK 2006b. KIT/KIT ligand in mammalian oogenesis and folliculogenesis: roles in rabbit and murine ovarian follicle activation and oocyte growth. Biol Reprod. 75(3): 421-433.
- Itoh T, Kacchi M, Abe H, Sendai Y and Hoshi H 2002. Growth, antrum formation, and estradiol production of bovine preantral follicles cultured in a serum-free medium. Biol Reprod. 67(4): 1099-1105.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 2018. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. [Online]. Available: http://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed August 6, 2018.

- Izumi T, Sakakida S, Muranishi Y and Nagai T 2012. Allometric study on the relationship between the growth of ovarian follicles and oocytes in domestic cats. J Reprod Dev. 58(4): 484-489.
- Jee BC, Kim JH, Park DH, Youm H, Suh CS and Kim SH 2012. *In vitro* growth of mouse preantral follicles: effect of animal age and stem cell factor/insulin-like growth factor supplementation. Clin Exp Reprod Med. 39(3): 107-113.
- Jewgenow K 1998. Role of media, protein and energy supplements on maintenance of morphology and DNA-synthesis of small preantral domestic cat follicles during short-term culture. Theriogenology. 49(8): 1567-1577.
- Jewgenow K and Göritz F 1995. The recovery of preantral follicles from ovaries of domestic cats and their characterisation before and after culture. Animal Reproduction Science. 39(4): 285-297.
- Jewgenow K and Paris MC 2006. Preservation of female germ cells from ovaries of cat species. Theriogenology. 66(1): 93-100.
- Jewgenow K and Pitra C 1993. Hormone-controlled culture of secondary follicles of domestic cats. Theriogenology. 39(2): 527-535.

Jimenez CR, de Azevedo JL, Silveira RG, Penitente-Filho J, Carrascal-Triana EL, Zolini AM, Araujo VR, Torres C and Goncalves WG 2016. Effects of IGF-I on *In Vitro* Culture of Bovine Preantral Follicles are Dose-Dependent. Reprod Domest Anim. 51(3): 435-444.

- Jin X, Han CS, Zhang XS, Yu FQ, Guo SH, Hu ZY and Liu YX 2005. Stem cell factor modulates the expression of steroidogenesis related proteins and FSHR during ovarian follicular development. Front Biosci. 10: 1573-1580.
- Johnston SD, Root Kustritz MV and Olson PS. 2001. Canine and feline theriogenology. 1<sup>st</sup> ed. In: Saunders, Philadelphia, Pa. xii, 592 p.
- Kamalamma P, Kona SS, Praveen Chakravarthi V, Siva Kumar AV, Punyakumari B and Rao VH 2016. Effect of leptin on *in vitro* development of ovine preantral ovarian follicles. Theriogenology. 85(2): 224-229.
- Kanda M, Oikawa H, Nakao H and Tsutsui T 1995. Early embryonic development *in vitro* and embryo transfer in the cat. J Vet Med Sci. 57(4): 641-646.
- Knight PG and Glister C 2003. Local roles of TGF-beta superfamily members in the control of ovarian follicle development. Anim Reprod Sci. 78(3-4): 165-183.
- Kreeger PK, Fernandes NN, Woodruff TK and Shea LD 2005. Regulation of mouse follicle development by follicle-stimulating hormone in a three-dimensional *in vitro* culture system is dependent on follicle stage and dose. Biol Reprod. 73(5): 942-950.
- Kutzler MA 2007. Estrus induction and synchronization in canids and felids. Theriogenology. 68(3): 354-374.
- Lambo CA, Grahn RA, Lyons LA, Bateman H, Newsom J and Swanson WF 2012. Comparative fertility of freshly collected vs frozen-thawed semen with

laparoscopic oviductal artificial insemination in domestic cats. Reprod Domest Anim. 47 Suppl 6: 284-288.

- Leyva H, Madley T and Stabenfeldt GH 1989. Effect of light manipulation on ovarian activity and melatonin and prolactin secretion in the domestic cat. J Reprod Fertil Suppl. 39: 125-133.
- Li J, Kim JM, Liston P, Li M, Miyazaki T, Mackenzie AE, Korneluk RG and Tsang BK 1998. Expression of inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) in rat granulosa cells during ovarian follicular development and atresia. Endocrinology. 139(3): 1321-1328.
- Li RH, Altreuter DH and Gentile FT 1996. Transport characterization of hydrogel matrices for cell encapsulation. Biotechnol Bioeng. 50(4): 365-373.
- Lima IM, Brito IR, Rodrigues GQ, Silva CM, Magalhaes-Padilha DM, Lima LF, Celestino JJ, Campello CC, Silva JR, Figueiredo JR and Rodrigues AP 2011. Presence of c-kit mRNA in goat ovaries and improvement of *in vitro* preantral follicle survival and development with kit ligand. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 345(1-2): 38-47.
- Liu X, Andoh K, Yokota H, Kobayashi J, Abe Y, Yamada K, Mizunuma H and Ibuki Y 1998. Effects of growth hormone, activin, and follistatin on the development of preantral follicle from immature female mice. Endocrinology. 139(5): 2342-2347.
- Liu X, Xie F, Zamah AM, Cao B and Conti M 2014. Multiple pathways mediate luteinizing hormone regulation of cGMP signaling in the mouse ovarian follicle. Biol Reprod. 91(1): 9.

- Loret de Mola JR, Barnhart K, Kopf GS, Heyner S, Garside W and Coutifaris CB 2004. Comparison of two culture systems for the *in vitro* growth and maturation of mouse preantral follicles. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol. 31(1): 15-19.
- Lu CL, Yan J, Zhi X, Xia X, Wang TR, Yan LY, Yu Y, Ding T, Gao JM, Li R and Qiao J 2015. Basic fibroblast growth factor promotes macaque follicle development *in vitro*. Reproduction. 149(5): 425-433.
- Lu XL, Yu J, Zhang G, Wei ZT, Li JT and Zhang JM 2014. Effects of varying tissue sizes on the efficiency of baboon ovarian tissue vitrification. Cryobiology. 69(1): 79-83.
- Lunardi FO, de Aguiar FLN, Apolloni LB, Duarte ABG, de Sa NAR, Leal ESS, Sales AD, Lobo CH, Campello CC, Smitz J, Apgar GA, de Figueiredo JR and Rodrigues APR 2017. Sheep Isolated Secondary Follicles Are Able to Produce Metaphase II Oocytes After Vitrification and Long-Term *In Vitro* Growth. Biopreserv Biobank. 15(4): 321-331.

## **งหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาล**ัย

- Luvoni GC, Chigioni S, Perego L, Lodde V, Modina S and Luciano AM 2006. Effect of gonadotropins during in vitro maturation of feline oocytes on oocyte-cumulus cells functional coupling and intracellular concentration of glutathione. Anim Reprod Sci. 96(1-2): 66-78.
- Luvoni GC, Tessaro I, Apparicio M, Ruggeri E, Luciano AM and Modina SC 2012. Effect of vitrification of feline ovarian cortex on follicular and oocyte quality and competence. Reprod Domest Anim. 47(3): 385-391.

- Luyckx V, Dolmans MM, Vanacker J, Legat C, Fortuno Moya C, Donnez J and Amorim CA 2014. A new step toward the artificial ovary: survival and proliferation of isolated murine follicles after autologous transplantation in a fibrin scaffold. Fertil Steril. 101(4): 1149-1156.
- Luyckx V, Dolmans MM, Vanacker J, Scalercio SR, Donnez J and Amorim CA 2013. First step in developing a 3D biodegradable fibrin scaffold for an artificial ovary. J Ovarian Res. 6(1): 83.
- Magalhaes-Padilha DM, Duarte AB, Araujo VR, Saraiva MV, Almeida AP, Rodrigues GQ, Matos MH, Campello CC, Silva JR, Gastal MO, Gastal EL and Figueiredo JR 2012. Steady-state level of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptor mRNA and the effect of IGF-I on the *in vitro* culture of caprine preantral follicles. Theriogenology. 77(1): 206-213.
- Manna PR, Dyson MT and Stocco DM 2009. Regulation of the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene expression: present and future perspectives. Mol Hum Reprod. 15(6): 321-333.
- Mao J, Smith MF, Rucker EB, Wu GM, McCauley TC, Cantley TC, Prather RS, Didion BA and Day BN 2004. Effect of epidermal growth factor and insulin-like growth factor I on porcine preantral follicular growth, antrum formation, and stimulation of granulosal cell proliferation and suppression of apoptosis *in vitro*. J Anim Sci. 82(7): 1967-1975.

- Martins JLA, Lopes MD, de Souza FF, Possebon FS, Wibbelt G and Jewgenow K 2018. Cat preantral follicle survival after prolonged cooled storage followed by vitrification. Cryobiology. 81: 94-100.
- Mason H and Franks S 1997. Local control of ovarian steroidogenesis. Baillieres Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 11(2): 261-279.
- Mattioli M and Barboni B 2000. Signal transduction mechanism for LH in the cumulusoocyte complex. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 161(1-2): 19-23.
- Michel C 1993. Induction of oestrus in cats by photoperiodic manipulations and social stimuli. Lab Anim. 27(3): 278-280.
- Micheletti T, Brown JL, Walker SL, Cubas ZS, Furtado PV, Putman SB, de Moraes W, de Oliveira MJ, de Oliveira CA and Moreira N 2015. The use of altrenogest to avoid hyperestrogenism after eCG-hCG ovulation induction in southern tigrina (*Leopardus guttulus*). Theriogenology. 84(4): 575-582.
- Miller AM, Roelke ME, Goodrowe KL, Howard JG and Wildt DE 1990. Oocyte recovery, maturation and fertilization *in vitro* in the puma (*Felis concolor*). J Reprod Fertil. 88(1): 249-258.
- Monget P, Besnard N, Huet C, Pisselet C and Monniaux D 1996. Insulin-like growth factorbinding proteins and ovarian folliculogenesis. Horm Res. 45(3-5): 211-217.

Monget P, Fabre S, Mulsant P, Lecerf F, Elsen JM, Mazerbourg S, Pisselet C and Monniaux

D 2002. Regulation of ovarian folliculogenesis by IGF and BMP system in domestic animals. Domest Anim Endocrinol. 23(1-2): 139-154.

- Monniaux D 2016. Driving folliculogenesis by the oocyte-somatic cell dialog: Lessons from genetic models. Theriogenology. 86(1): 41-53.
- Monniaux D and Pisselet C 1992. Control of proliferation and differentiation of ovine granulosa cells by insulin-like growth factor-I and follicle-stimulating hormone *in vitro*. Biol Reprod. 46(1): 109-119.
- Moore HD, Bonney RC and Jones DM 1981. Successful induced ovulation and artificial insemination in the puma (*Felis concolor*). Vet Rec. 108(13): 282-283.



- Moraes W, Morais RN, Moreira N, Lacerda O, Gomes MLF and Mucciolo RG 1997. Successful artificial insemination after exogenous gonadotropin treatment in the ocelot (*Leopardus pardalis*) and tigrina (*Leopardus tigrina*). Proc Am Assoc Zoo Vet: 334-335.
- Motohashi HH, Sankai T and Kada H 2011. Live offspring from cryopreserved embryos following *in vitro* growth, maturation and fertilization of oocytes derived from preantral follicles in mice. J Reprod Dev. 57(6): 715-722.

- Mouttham L and Comizzoli P 2017. Presence of sucrose in the vitrification solution and exposure for longer periods of time improve post-warming follicle integrity in cat ovarian tissues. Reprod Domest Anim. 52 Suppl 2: 224-229.
- Murayama C, Miyazaki H, Miyamoto A and Shimizu T 2012. Luteinizing hormone (LH) regulates production of androstenedione and progesterone via control of histone acetylation of StAR and CYP17 promoters in ovarian theca cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 350(1): 1-9.
- Nagashima JB, El Assal R, Songsasen N and Demirci U 2018. Evaluation of an ovary-on-achip in large mammalian models: Species specificity and influence of follicle isolation status. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 12(4): e1926-e1935.
- Olson PN, Husted PW, Allen TA and Nett TM 1984. Reproductive endocrinology and physiology of the bitch and queen. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 14(4): 927-946.

## จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

- Orisaka M, Hattori K, Fukuda S, Mizutani T, Miyamoto K, Sato T, Tsang BK, Kotsuji F and Yoshida Y 2013. Dysregulation of ovarian follicular development in female rat: LH decreases FSH sensitivity during preantral-early antral transition. Endocrinology. 154(8): 2870-2880.
- Orisaka M, Orisaka S, Jiang JY, Craig J, Wang Y, Kotsuji F and Tsang BK 2006. Growth differentiation factor 9 is antiapoptotic during follicular development from preantral to early antral stage. Mol Endocrinol. 20(10): 2456-2468.

- Orisaka M, Tajima K, Tsang BK and Kotsuji F 2009. Oocyte-granulosa-theca cell interactions during preantral follicular development. J Ovarian Res. 2(1): 9.
- Otoi T, Murakami M, Ooka A, Karja NW and Suzuki T 2001. Effects of size and storage temperature on meiotic competence of domestic cat oocytes. Vet Rec. 148(4): 116-118.
- Paape SR, Shille VM, Seto H and Stabenfeldt GH 1975. Luteal activity in the pseudopregnant cat. Biol Reprod. 13(4): 470-474.
- Park YH, Gong SP, Kim HY, Kim GA, Choi JH, Ahn JY and Lim JM 2013. Development of a serum-free defined system employing growth factors for preantral follicle culture. Mol Reprod Dev. 80(9): 725-733.
- Parrott JA and Skinner MK 1997. Direct actions of kit-ligand on theca cell growth and differentiation during follicle development. Endocrinology. 138(9): 3819-3827.Parrott JA and Skinner MK 1998. Thecal cell-granulosa cell interactions involve a positive
- feedback loop among keratinocyte growth factor, hepatocyte growth factor, and Kit ligand during ovarian follicular development. Endocrinology. 139(5): 2240-2245.
- Parrott JA and Skinner MK 1999. Kit-ligand/stem cell factor induces primordial follicle development and initiates folliculogenesis. Endocrinology. 140(9): 4262-4271.
- Paulini F, Vilela JM, Chiti MC, Donnez J, Jadoul P, Dolmans MM and Amorim CA 2016. Survival and growth of human preantral follicles after cryopreservation of ovarian

tissue, follicle isolation and short-term xenografting. Reprod Biomed Online. 33(3): 425-432.

- Pavlok A, Lucas-Hahn A and Niemann H 1992. Fertilization and developmental competence of bovine oocytes derived from different categories of antral follicles. Mol Reprod Dev. 31(1): 63-67.
- Pedersen T and Peters H 1968. Proposal for a classification of oocytes and follicles in the mouse ovary. J Reprod Fertil. 17(3): 555-557.
- Pelican KM, Wildt DE and Howard JG 2006a. GnRH agonist Lupron (leuprolide acetate) pre-treatments prevent ovulation in response to gonadotropin stimulation in the clouded leopard (*Neofelis nebulosa*). Theriogenology. 66(6-7): 1768-1777.
- Pelican KM, Wildt DE, Pukazhenthi B and Howard J 2006b. Ovarian control for assisted reproduction in the domestic cat and wild felids. Theriogenology. 66(1): 37-48.
- Persani L, Rossetti R, Di Pasquale E, Cacciatore C and Fabre S 2014. The fundamental role of bone morphogenetic protein 15 in ovarian function and its involvement in

female fertility disorders. Hum Reprod Update. 20(6): 869-883.

- Peter H and McNatty KP. 1980. The Ovary. In: University of California Press, Berkley and Los Angeles.
- Pfaffl MW 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 29(9): e45.

- Pfaffl MW, Tichopad A, Prgomet C and Neuvians TP 2004. Determination of stable housekeeping genes, differentially regulated target genes and sample integrity: BestKeeper--Excel-based tool using pair-wise correlations. Biotechnol Lett. 26(6): 509-515.
- Picton HM 2001. Activation of follicle development: the primordial follicle. Theriogenology. 55: 1193-1210.
- Pope CE 2000. Embryo technology in conservation efforts for endangered felids. Theriogenology. 53(1): 163-174.
- Pope CE, Gomez MC and Dresser BL 2006. *In vitro* production and transfer of cat embryos in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Theriogenology. 66(1): 59-71.
- Pope CE, Gomez MC, Kagawa N, Kuwayama M, Leibo SP and Dresser BL 2012. *In vivo* survival of domestic cat oocytes after vitrification, intracytoplasmic sperm injection and embryo transfer. Theriogenology. 77(3): 531-538.
- Pope CE, Johnson CA, McRae MA, Keller GL and Dresser BL 1998. Development of embryos produced by intracytoplasmic sperm injection of cat oocytes. Anim Reprod Sci. 53(1-4): 221-236.
- Pope CE, Keller GL and Dresser BL 1993. *In vitro* fertilization in domestic and nondomestic cats including sequences of early nuclear events, development *in vitro*, cryopreservation and successful intra- and interspecies embryo transfer. J Reprod Fertil Suppl. 47: 189-201.

- Pope CE, McRae MA, Plair BL, Keller GL and Dresser BL 1994. Successful *in vitro* and *in vivo* development of in vitro fertilized two- to four-cell cat embryos following cryopreservation, culture and transfer. Theriogenology. 42(3): 513-525.
- Pope CE, McRae MA, Plair BL, Keller GL and Dresser BL 1997. *In vitro* and *in vivo* development of embryos produced by *in vitro* maturation and *in vitro* fertilization of cat oocytes. J Reprod Fertil Suppl. 51: 69-82.
- Pukazhenthi BS and Wildt DE 2004. Which reproductive technologies are most relevant to studying, managing and conserving wildlife? Reprod Fertil Dev. 16(1-2): 33-46.
- Rao X, Huang X, Zhou Z and Lin X 2013. An improvement of the 2^(-delta delta CT) method for quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction data analysis. Biostat Bioinforma Biomath. 3(3): 71-85.
- Reynaud K, Cortvrindt R, Smitz J and Driancourt MA 2000. Effects of Kit Ligand and anti-Kit antibody on growth of cultured mouse preantral follicles. Mol Reprod Dev. 56(4): 483-494.
- Reynaud K, Gicquel C, Thoumire S, Chebrout M, Ficheux C, Bestandji M and Chastant-Maillard S 2009. Folliculogenesis and morphometry of oocyte and follicle growth in the feline ovary. Repro Domes Anim. 44(2): 174-179.
- Roberts R, Stark J, latropoulou A, Becker DL, Franks S and Hardy K 2004. Energy substrate metabolism of mouse cumulus-oocyte complexes: response to follicle-

stimulating hormone is mediated by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway and is associated with oocyte maturation. Biol Reprod. 71(1): 199-209.

- Ronnstrand L 2004. Signal transduction via the stem cell factor receptor/c-Kit. Cell Mol Life Sci. 61(19-20): 2535-2548.
- Roth TL, Armstrong DL, Barrie MT and Wildt DE 1997a. Seasonal effects on ovarian responsiveness to exogenous gonadotrophins and successful artificial insemination in the snow leopard (*Uncia uncia*). Reprod Fertil Dev. 9(3): 285-295.
  Roth TL, Wolfe BA, Long JA, Howard JG and Wildt DE 1997b. Effects of equine chorionic gonadotropin, human chorionic gonadotropin, and laparoscopic artificial insemination on embryo, endocrine, and luteal characteristics in the domestic cat. Biol Reprod. 57(1): 165-171.
- Ruiz-Lopez MJ, Ganan N, Godoy JA, Del Olmo A, Garde J, Espeso G, Vargas A, Martinez F, Roldan ER and Gomendio M 2012. Heterozygosity-fitness correlations and inbreeding depression in two critically endangered mammals. Conserv Biol. 26(6): 1121-1129.
- Russell DL, Gilchrist RB, Brown HM and Thompson JG 2016. Bidirectional communication between cumulus cells and the oocyte: Old hands and new players? Theriogenology. 86(1): 62-68.

- Sadr SZ, Fatehi R, Maroufizadeh S, Amorim CA and Ebrahimi B 2018. Utilizing Fibrin-Alginate and Matrigel-Alginate for Mouse Follicle Development in Three-Dimensional Culture Systems. Biopreserv Biobank. 16(2): 120-127.
- Saint-Dizier M, Malandain E, Thoumire S, Remy B and Chastant-Maillard S 2007. Expression of follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone receptors during follicular growth in the domestic cat ovary. Mol Reprod Dev. 74(8): 989-996.
- Santymire RM, Brown JL, Stewart RA, Santymire RC, Wildt DE and Howard J 2011. Reproductive gonadal steroidogenic activity in the fishing cat (*Prionailurus viverrinus*) assessed by fecal steroid analyses. Anim Reprod Sci. 128(1-4): 60-72.
- Saraiva MV, Celestino JJ, Araujo VR, Chaves RN, Almeida AP, Lima-Verde IB, Duarte AB, Silva GM, Martins FS, Bruno JB, Matos MH, Campello CC, Silva JR and Figueiredo JR 2011. Expression of follicle-stimulating hormone receptor (FSHR) in goat ovarian follicles and the impact of sequential culture medium on *in vitro* development of caprine preantral follicles. Zygote. 19(3): 205-214.
- Shah JS, Sabouni R, Cayton Vaught KC, Owen CM, Albertini DF and Segars JH 2018. Biomechanics and mechanical signaling in the ovary: a systematic review. J Assist Reprod Genet. 35(7): 1135-1148.
- Sharma GT, Dubey PK and Kumar GS 2010. Effects of IGF-I, TGF-alpha plus TGF-beta1 and bFGF on *in vitro* survival, growth and apoptosis in FSH-stimulated buffalo (*Bubalis bubalus*) preantral follicles. Growth Horm IGF Res. 20(4): 319-325.

- Sharma GT, Dubey PK and Meur SK 2009. Survival and developmental competence of buffalo preantral follicles using three-dimensional collagen gel culture system. Anim Reprod Sci. 114(1-3): 115-124.
- Sharma R, Law GK, Rekieh K, Abazari A, Elliott JA, McGann LE and Jomha NM 2007. A novel method to measure cryoprotectant permeation into intact articular cartilage. Cryobiology. 54(2): 196-203.
- Shea LD, Woodruff TK and Shikanov A 2014. Bioengineering the ovarian follicle microenvironment. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 16: 29-52.
- Shikanov A, Xu M, Woodruff TK and Shea LD 2009. Interpenetrating fibrin-alginate matrices for *in vitro* ovarian follicle development. Biomaterials. 30(29): 5476-5485.
- Shikanov A, Xu M, Woodruff TK and Shea LD 2011. A method for ovarian follicle encapsulation and culture in a proteolytically degradable 3 dimensional system. J Vis Exp. (49).

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

- Shille VM, Lundstrom KE and Stabenfeldt GH 1979. Follicular function in the domestic cat as determined by estradiol-17 beta concentrations in plasma: relation to estrous behavior and cornification of exfoliated vaginal epithelium. Biol Reprod. 21(4): 953-963.
- Silva GM, Brito IR, Sales AD, Aguiar FLN, Duarte ABG, Araujo VR, Vieira LA, Magalhaes-Padilha DM, Lima LF, Alves BG, Silveira LBR, Lo Turco EG, Rodrigues AP, Campello CC, Wheeler MB and Figueiredo JR 2017. *In vitro* growth and maturation of isolated

caprine preantral follicles: Influence of insulin and FSH concentration, culture dish, coculture, and oocyte size on meiotic resumption. Theriogenology. 90: 32-41.

- Silva JR, van den Hurk R, de Matos MH, dos Santos RR, Pessoa C, de Moraes MO and de Figueiredo JR 2004. Influences of FSH and EGF on primordial follicles during *in vitro* culture of caprine ovarian cortical tissue. Theriogenology. 61(9): 1691-1704.
  Silva JR, van den Hurk R, van Tol HT, Roelen BA and Figueiredo JR 2006. The Kit ligand/c-Kit receptor system in goat ovaries: gene expression and protein localization. Zygote. 14(4): 317-328.
- Sojka NJ, Jennings LL and Hamner CE 1970. Artificial insemination in the cat (*Felis catus L.*). Lab Anim Care. 20(2): 198-204.
- Songsasen N, Comizzoli P, Nagashima J, Fujihara M and Wildt DE 2012. The domestic dog and cat as models for understanding the regulation of ovarian follicle development *in vitro*. Reprod Domest Anim. 47 Suppl 6: 13-18.
- Songsasen N, Fickes A, Pukazhenthi BS and Wildt DE 2009. Follicular morphology, oocyte

diameter and localization of fibroblast growth factors in the domestic dog ovary.

Repro Domes Anim. 44 (Suppl 2): 65-70.

Songsasen N, Thongkittidilok C, Yamamizu K, Wildt DE and Comizzoli P 2017. Short-term hypertonic exposure enhances *in vitro* follicle growth and meiotic competence

of enclosed oocytes while modestly affecting mRNA expression of aquaporin and steroidogenic genes in the domestic cat model. Theriogenology. 90: 228-236.

- Songsasen N, Woodruff TK and Wildt DE 2011. *In vitro* growth and steroidogenesis of dog follicles are influenced by the physical and hormonal microenvironment. Reproduction. 142(1): 113-122.
- Spicer LJ and Stewart RE 1996. Interactions among basic fibroblast growth factor, epidermal growth factor, insulin, and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) on cell numbers and steroidogenesis of bovine thecal cells: role of IGF-I receptors. Biol Reprod. 54(1): 255-263.
- Srisamoot N, Chaveerach A, Nuchadomrong S, Sattayasai N, Chaveerach P, Tanomtong A and Pinthong K 2007. Genetic relationships among wild Felidae in Thailand using AFLP markers. Pak J Biol Sci. 10(16): 2639-2645.
- Stubbs SA, Webber LJ, Stark J, Rice S, Margara R, Lavery S, Trew GH, Hardy K and Franks S 2013. Role of Insulin-like growth factors in initiation of follicle growth in normal and polycystic human ovaries. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 98(8): 3298-3305.
- Su YQ, Denegre JM, Wigglesworth K, Pendola FL, O'Brien MJ and Eppig JJ 2003. Oocytedependent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (ERK1/2) in cumulus cells is required for the maturation of the mouse oocyte-cumulus cell complex. Dev Biol. 263(1): 126-138.

- Su YQ, Wu X, O'Brien MJ, Pendola FL, Denegre JN, Matzuk MM and Eppig JJ 2004. Synergistic roles of BMP15 and GDF9 in the development and function of the oocyte-cumulus cell complex in mice: genetic evidence for an oocyte-granulosa cell regulatory loop. Dev Biol. 276(1): 64-73.
- Swanson WF 2012. Laparoscopic oviductal embryo transfer and artificial insemination in felids--challenges, strategies and successes. Reprod Domest Anim. 47 Suppl 6: 136-140.
- Swanson WF and Brown JL 2004. International training programs in reproductive sciences for conservation of Latin American felids. Anim Reprod Sci. 82-83: 21-34. Swanson WF and Godke RA 1994. Transcervical embryo transfer in the domestic cat. Lab

Anim Sci. 44(3): 288-291.

- Swanson WF, Horohov DW and Godke RA 1995. Production of exogenous gonadotrophinneutralizing immunoglobulins in cats after repeated eCG-hCG treatment and relevance for assisted reproduction in felids. J Reprod Fertil. 105(1): 35-41.
- Swanson WF, Howard JG, Roth TL, Brown JL, Alvarado T, Burton M, Starnes D and Wildt DE 1996. Responsiveness of ovaries to exogenous gonadotrophins and laparoscopic artificial insemination with frozen-thawed spermatozoa in ocelots (*Felis pardalis*). J Reprod Fertil. 106(1): 87-94.
- Swanson WF, Wolfe BA, Brown JL, Martin-Jimenez T, Riviere JE, Roth TL and Wildt DE 1997. Pharmacokinetics and ovarian-stimulatory effects of equine and human

chorionic gonadotropins administered singly and in combination in the domestic cat. Biol Reprod. 57(2): 295-302.

- Tanaka A, Takagi Y, Nakagawa K, Fujimoto Y, Hori T and Tsutsui T 2000. Artificial intravaginal insemination using fresh semen in cats. J Vet Med Sci. 62(11): 1163-1167.
- Telfer EE and McLaughlin M 2011. *In vitro* development of ovarian follicles. Semin Reprod Med. 29(1): 15-23.
- Teng Z, Wang C, Wang Y, Huang K, Xiang X, Niu W, Feng L, Zhao L, Yan H and Zhang H 2016. Gap junctions are essential for murine primordial follicle assembly immediately before birth. Reproduction. 151(2): 105-115.
- Thomas FH and Vanderhyden BC 2006. Oocyte-granulosa cell interactions during mouse follicular development: regulation of kit ligand expression and its role in oocyte growth. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 4: 19.

Thomas FH, Walters KA and Telfer EE 2003. How to make a good oocyte: an update on

in vitro models to study follicle regulation. Hum Reprod Update. 9(6): 541-555.

Thongkittidilok C, Singh RP, Comizzoli P, Wildt D and Songsasen N 2018. Insulin promotes preantral follicle growth and antrum formation through temporal expression of genes regulating steroidogenesis and water transport in the cat. Reprod Fertil Dev. Thuwanut P, Comizzoli P, Wildt DE, Keefer CL and Songsasen N 2017. Stem cell factor upregulating c-kit mRNA expression and stimulating the phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/AKT pathway. Reprod Fertil Dev. 29(7): 1356-1368.

- Tipkantha W, Thuwanut P, Maikeaw U, Thongphakdee A, Yapila S, Kamolnorranath S, Siriaroonrat B, Comizzoli P and Chatdarong K 2017. Successful Laparoscopic Oviductal Artificial Insemination in the Clouded Leopard (*Neofelis Nebulosa*) in Thailand. J Zoo Wildl Med. 48(3): 804-812.
- Tsutsui T 2006. Artificial insemination in domestic cats (*Felis catus*). Theriogenology. 66(1): 122-125.
- Tsutsui T, Mizutani T, Matsubara Y, Toyonaga M, Oba H and Hori T 2011. Surgical intrauterine insemination with cat semen cryopreserved with Orvus ES paste or sodium lauryl sulfate. J Vet Med Sci. 73(2): 259-262.
- Tsutsui T, Sakai Y, Matsui Y, Sato M, Yamane I, Murao I and Stabenfeldt GH 1989. Induced ovulation in cats using porcine pituitary gland preparation during the non-breeding season. Nihon Juigaku Zasshi. 51(4): 677-683.
- Tsutsui T, Tanaka A and Hori T 2001. Intratubal insemination with fresh semen in cats. J Reprod Fertil Suppl. 57: 347-351.
- Tsutsui T, Tanaka A, Takagi Y, Nakagawa K, Fujimoto Y, Murai M, Anzai M and Hori T 2000a. Unilateral intrauterine horn insemination of fresh semen in cats. J Vet Med Sci. 62(12): 1241-1245.

- Tsutsui T, Yamane I, Hattori I, Kurosawa N, Matsunaga H, Murao I, Kanda M and Hori T 2000b. Feline embryo transfer during the non-breeding season. J Vet Med Sci. 62(11): 1169-1175.
- Tuck AR, Robker RL, Norman RJ, Tilley WD and Hickey TE 2015. Expression and localisation of c-kit and KITL in the adult human ovary. J Ovarian Res. 8: 31.
- Umapathy G, Sontakke SD, Srinivasu K, Kiran T, Kholkute SD and Shivaji S 2007. Estrus behavior and fecal steroid profiles in the Asiatic lion (*Panthera leo persica*) during natural and gonadotropin-induced estrus. Anim Reprod Sci. 101(3-4): 313-325.
- Vanacker J and Amorim CA 2017. Alginate: A Versatile Biomaterial to Encapsulate Isolated Ovarian Follicles. Ann Biomed Eng. 45(7): 1633-1649.
- Vanacker J, Luyckx V, Dolmans MM, Des Rieux A, Jaeger J, Van Langendonckt A, Donnez J and Amorim CA 2012. Transplantation of an alginate-matrigel matrix containing isolated ovarian cells: first step in developing a biodegradable scaffold to transplant isolated preantral follicles and ovarian cells. Biomaterials. 33(26): 6079-6085.
- Vanderhyden BC, Caron PJ, Buccione R and Eppig JJ 1990. Developmental pattern of the secretion of cumulus expansion-enabling factor by mouse oocytes and the role of oocytes in promoting granulosa cell differentiation. Dev Biol. 140(2): 307-317.

- Vasquez-Rivera A, Sommer KK, Oldenhof H, Higgins AZ, Brockbank KGM, Hilfiker A and Wolkers WF 2018. Simultaneous monitoring of different vitrification solution components permeating into tissues. Analyst. 143(2): 420-428.
- Veraguas D, Gallegos PF, Velasquez AE, Castro FO and Rodriguez-Alvarez L 2017. FSH stimulation of anestrous cats improves oocyte quality and development of parthenogenetic embryos. Theriogenology. 87: 25-35.
- Verhage HG, Beamer NB and Brenner RM 1976. Plasma levels of estradiol and progesterone in the cat during polyestrus, pregnancy and pseudopregnancy. Biol Reprod. 14(5): 579-585.
- Verstegen JP, Onclin K, Silva LD, Donnay I, Mettens P and Ectors F 1993. Superovulation and embryo culture *in vitro* following treatment with ultra-pure folliclestimulating hormone in cats. J Reprod Fertil Suppl. 47: 209-218.
- Webb RJ, Bains H, Cruttwell C and Carroll J 2002. Gap-junctional communication in mouse cumulus-oocyte complexes: implications for the mechanism of meiotic maturation. Reproduction. 123(1): 41-52.
- West ER, Shea LD and Woodruff TK 2007. Engineering the follicle microenvironment. Semin Reprod Med. 25(4): 287-299.
- Wiedemann C, Hribal R, Ringleb J, Bertelsen MF, Rasmusen K, Andersen CY, Kristensen SG and Jewgenow K 2012. Preservation of primordial follicles from lions by slow

freezing and xenotransplantation of ovarian cortex into an immunodeficient mouse. Reprod Domest Anim. 47 Suppl 6: 300-304.

- Wiedemann C, Zahmel J and Jewgenow K 2013. Short-term culture of ovarian cortex pieces to assess the cryopreservation outcome in wild felids for genome conservation. BMC Vet Res. 9: 37.
- Wigglesworth K, Lee KB, Emori C, Sugiura K and Eppig JJ 2015. Transcriptomic diversification of developing cumulus and mural granulosa cells in mouse ovarian follicles. Biol Reprod. 92(1): 23.
- Wildt DE, Chan SY, Seager SW and Chakraborty PK 1981. Ovarian activity, circulating hormones, and sexual behavior in the cat. I. Relationships during the coitusinduced luteal phase and the estrous period without mating. Biol Reprod. 25(1):
  - 15-28.
- Wildt DE, Kinney GM and Seager SW 1978. Gonadotropin induced reproductive cyclicity in the domestic cat. Lab Anim Sci. 28(3): 301-307.
- Wood TC and Wildt DE 1997. Effect of the quality of the cumulus-oocyte complex in the domestic cat on the ability of oocytes to mature, fertilize and develop into blastocysts *in vitro*. J Reprod Fertil. 110(2): 355-360.
- Xu J, Bernuci MP, Lawson MS, Yeoman RR, Fisher TE, Zelinski MB and Stouffer RL 2010. Survival, growth, and maturation of secondary follicles from prepubertal, young,

and older adult rhesus monkeys during encapsulated three-dimensional culture: effects of gonadotropins and insulin. Reproduction. 140(5): 685-697.

- Xu J, Lawson MS, Yeoman RR, Molskness TA, Ting AY, Stouffer RL and Zelinski MB 2013. Fibrin promotes development and function of macaque primary follicles during encapsulated three-dimensional culture. Hum Reprod. 28(8): 2187-2200.
- Xu M, Banc A, Woodruff TK and Shea LD 2009a. Secondary follicle growth and oocyte maturation by culture in alginate hydrogel following cryopreservation of the ovary or individual follicles. Biotechnol Bioeng. 103(2): 378-386.
- Xu M, Fazleabas AT, Shikanov A, Jackson E, Barrett SL, Hirshfeld-Cytron J, Kiesewetter SE, Shea LD and Woodruff TK 2011. *In vitro* oocyte maturation and preantral follicle culture from the luteal-phase baboon ovary produce mature oocytes. Biol Reprod. 84(4): 689-697.
- Xu M, Kreeger PK, Shea LD and Woodruff TK 2006a. Tissue-engineered follicles produce live, fertile offspring. Tissue Eng. 12(10): 2739-2746.
- Xu M, West-Farrell ER, Stouffer RL, Shea LD, Woodruff TK and Zelinski MB 2009b. Encapsulated three-dimensional culture supports development of nonhuman primate secondary follicles. Biol Reprod. 81(3): 587-594.
- Xu M, West E, Shea LD and Woodruff TK 2006b. Identification of a stage-specific permissive *in vitro* culture environment for follicle growth and oocyte development. Biol Reprod. 75(6): 916-923.

- Yin H, Kristensen SG, Jiang H, Rasmussen A and Andersen CY 2016. Survival and growth of isolated pre-antral follicles from human ovarian medulla tissue during longterm 3D culture. Hum Reprod. 31(7): 1531-1539.
- Yoshida H, Takakura N, Kataoka H, Kunisada T, Okamura H and Nishikawa SI 1997. Stepwise requirement of c-kit tyrosine kinase in mouse ovarian follicle development. Dev Biol. 184(1): 122-137.
- Zambelli D, Bini C and Cunto M 2015a. Endoscopic transcervical catheterization in the domestic cat. Reprod Domest Anim. 50(1): 13-16.
- Zambelli D, Bini C, Kuster DG, Molari V and Cunto M 2015b. First deliveries after estrus induction using deslorelin and endoscopic transcervical insemination in the queen. Theriogenology. 84(5): 773-778.
- Zambelli D and Cunto M 2005. Transcervical artificial insemination in the cat. Theriogenology. 64(3): 698-705.

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

- Zhao H, Zhou L, Shangguan AJ and Bulun SE 2016. Aromatase expression and regulation in breast and endometrial cancer. J Mol Endocrinol. 57(1): R19-33.
- Zhao J, Taverne MA, Van Der Weijden GC, Bevers MM and Van Den Hurk R 2001. Insulinlike growth factor-I (IGF-I) stimulates the development of cultured rat pre-antral follicles. Mol Reprod Dev. 58(3): 287-296.

- Zheng W, Nagaraju G, Liu Z and Liu K 2012. Functional roles of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases (PI3Ks) signaling in the mammalian ovary. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 356(1-2): 24-30.
- Zhou H and Shikanov A 2018. Three-Dimensional Hydrogel-Based Culture to Study the Effects of Toxicants on Ovarian Follicles. Methods Mol Biol. 1758: 55-72.

Zhou H and Zhang Y 2005. Effect of growth factors on *in vitro* development of caprine preantral follicle oocytes. Anim Reprod Sci. 90(3-4): 265-272.


## VITA

NAME	Ajjima Chansaenroj
DATE OF BIRTH	16 May 1985
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Primary school: Sacred Heart Convent School
	Secondary school: Triam Udom Suksa Nomklao School
	Bachelor's degree: Faculty of Veterinary Science,
~	Chulalongkorn University
	Master's degree: Faculty of Veterinary Science,
	Chulalongkorn University
غر غر	Intern: Smithsonian Conservation Biology Institute
HOME ADDRESS	59/89 Soi. Ramkhamhaeng 140 Ramkhamhaeng Road,
	Sapansoong, Bangkok 10240
PUBLICATION	Equine chorionic gonadotropin induces in vitro follicular
	growth from the multi-layered secondary developmental
จุหา	stage in cats
	I ONGKORN UNIVERSITY